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Gaining 
Ground



Total AUM

S$ 39.5 billion

PATMI

S$ 1,413.7 million

Expansive portfolio across

12 economies

Total GFA

> 14 million sqm

Businesses  served globally

~ 5,000

Total amount committed to  
communities (since FY10/11) 

S$ 15 million
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At Mapletree, we always strive 

to better our performance. To 

achieve this, we constantly 

enhance our business model 

to capitalise on growth 

opportunities, while adhering 

to a disciplined approach with 

rigorous risk management 

processes when evaluating new 

investment opportunities.

 

We aim to further strengthen our 

strong earnings base to continue 

delivering sustainable returns  

to our stakeholders.
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Performance 
Highlights

The financial year ended 

31 March 2017 (FY16/17) saw 

record profitability achieved, driven 

by earnings from acquisitions in 

Australia, the United Kingdom, 

the United States and Vietnam. In 

addition, profits were supported 

by the completion of properties 

previously under development 

as well as strong performance of 

Mapletree’s four REITs.

 

Overall revenue rose to S$2.3 billion, 

with profit after tax and minority 

interests (PATMI1) hitting a high of 

S$1,413.7 million, a 46% increase 

from S$965.2 million a year ago.

AUM

  Managed assets  Owned assets

Total Assets Under Management (AUM)
(FY16/17)

FY07/08 FY08/09 FY09/10 FY10/11 FY11/12 FY12/13 FY15/16FY14/15FY13/14 FY16/17

(S$ million)

5,742
3,119 

11,423 
28,111 

0

8,000

16,000

24,000

32,000

40,000

6,185
5,621 

6,863
6,076

7,519
7,903

 8,450
11,401

 5,020
16,744 

 6,381  
18,224 

 7,853
20,562

11,774
 22,972 

S$ 39.5 billion

3Performance Highlights

Fee Income2 

 
non-controlling interests) attributable to  
perpetual securities holders and equity  
holder of the Company.

2 Including REIT management fees.

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 
 

gains or losses. 
4  ROIE denotes return on invested equity  

and is computed based on Operational PATMI 

over the Group’s equity from shareholder 
adjusted for unrealised revaluation gains or  

 
non-operating items including mark-to-market  
fair value adjustments and negative goodwill.

5  NAV CAGR is adjusted for dividends distributed 

controlling interests and perpetual securities and 
with NAV as at 31 March 2012 as starting base.

6  NAV CAGR is adjusted for dividends distributed 

controlling interests and perpetual securities and 
with NAV as at 31 March 2007 as starting base.

EBIT + SOA3 

Average Five-Year ROIE4

(From FY12/13 – FY16/17)

11.2%

11.7%

Average 10-Year ROIE4

(From FY07/08 – FY16/17)

Five-Year NAV CAGR5

(From FY12/13 – FY16/17)

11.8%

10-Year NAV CAGR6

(From FY07/08 – FY16/17)

13.1%

S$ 1,413.7 m
PATMI1 

(FY16/17)

07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12
Financial Year

12/13 15/1614/1513/14 16/17

(S$ million)

8173

124 134

188 203
241
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07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12
Financial Year

12/13 15/1614/1513/14 16/17

(S$ million)

457

796

1,141

0
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1,080

1,440

1,800

339

1,042

527
589

877

1,327
1,575
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Balancing 
Our Portfolio

Mapletree adopted a business strategy 
in 2014 to identify and invest in income-
yielding assets, including new asset 
classes in mature growth markets 
beyond Asia. The strategy which also 
included diversifying the Group’s 

the challenging global economic 
climate. Through this sound approach, 
we have achieved a record high 

to FY15/16, underpinned by strong 

assets are in non-Asia markets 
namely Australia, Europe and the 

management in these markets growing 

over the past three years. These 

Retail

Industrial

Corporate housing / 
serviced apartment

Student 
accommodation

Logistics

Residential

Section 5

Japan

86%

14%

The UK S$2,522.1m
The US S$1,691.7m
Australia S$1,144.8m 
Germany S$242.9m

AUM

Hong Kong SAR

Singapore

China

South Korea

Malaysia

Germany

India

Australia

Vietnam

The UK

The US

Singapore  S$15,188.1m
Hong Kong SAR  S$7,516.2m
China S$5,358.3m
Japan S$3,376.3m
Vietnam  S$1,262.7m
Malaysia  S$585.0m
South Korea S$400.2m
India S$246.0m

AUM
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Building 
Sustainability

At Mapletree, we take a long-term 
approach to our business, and have 
integrated sustainable practices in 
our business model. We have robust 
systems in place to monitor the 
underlying risk of our business and 

developer, we aim to minimise the 
environmental impact of our properties 
through green architecture and energy-
saving practices. We also continually 
engage with local communities and our 
tenants through our corporate social 

This year, we have published our 

key environmental, social and 
governance practices within the Group. 

Since 2011, we have committed 
S$15 million to our CSR programme to 
support education, healthcare and arts-
related causes. As education remains 
the key focus of our programme, the 
Group has donated S$500,000 each to 

generate bursaries and study grants for 
needy undergraduates. In FY16/17, we 
committed another S$3 million which 
will be disbursed over two years to fund 
education programmes in Singapore.

Social Sustainability

Section 7

Environmental 
Sustainability

As a developer, we are committed to 
developing environmentally friendly 
buildings. 16 of our properties in 
Singapore have attained the Building 
and Construction Authority of 
Singapore’s Gold award or higher. 
We strive to do the same overseas, 

We have in place comprehensive 
risk management and corporate 
governance practices which guide 
us in major investment decisions 
and/or assessing potential 

Economic 
Sustainability
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Mapletree’s business model combines 
capital management with real 
estate development and investment 
capabilities to create value. During the 
year, we added initiatives to enhance 
returns from our new asset classes in 
student accommodation, and corporate 
housing / serviced apartment. To 
strengthen our operational expertise in 
the latter, Mapletree acquired Oakwood 

global provider of corporate housing / 
serviced apartment solutions.

housing assets in the United Kingdom 

Accommodation Private Trust. The trust 

exposure to this resilient asset class. 

Enhancing Our
Business Model

Grow third-party AUM

We employ a skilled and disciplined 
capital management framework to deliver 
consistent and high returns to our investors, 

private funds. To achieve an optimal capital 
structure, we continually syndicate new 
funds and grow third-party assets under 
management as part of our business model. 

Capital Manager

Capitalise on opportunities

We pursue, seize and underwrite new 
business opportunities across the entire 
real estate value chain. We incorporate 
our development and capital management 
capabilities to achieve further growth 
through value-added enhancing initiatives.

Investor

Section 9

Real
Estate
Skills

Create Value

underperforming assets and precincts 
into high-value real estate with our 
strong development know-how. Our 
award-winning developments and 

our ability to unlock and enhance the 
inherent value of real estate. 

Developer
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Corporate
Overview

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd 

(Mapletree) is a leading real estate 

development, investment and 

capital management company 

headquartered in Singapore. We 

invest in real estate sectors globally 

in geographical markets with good 

growth potential, to provide strong 

and stable returns to our investors. 

Since 2014, Mapletree has been actively 
investing beyond our established core 
market of Asia to grow our earnings 
base and strengthen returns. We have 
been growing our portfolio of income 
producing assets in the mature, 
transparent and highly liquid markets 
of Australia, Germany, the United 

14.2% of our assets under management 

student accommodation, corporate 
housing / serviced apartment, we have 
partnered with leading operators in both 
sectors. These partnerships enable 
us to strengthen the management and 
quality of assets and increase the overall 
portfolio value of each asset class.

Today, the Group has a S$39.5 billion 
portfolio spanning seven real estate 
sectors across 12 economies. They 

residential, corporate housing / serviced 
apartment, and student accommodation 
assets. These assets span across 12 
economies namely Singapore, Australia, 

China, Germany, Hong Kong SAR, India, 
Japan, Malaysia, South Korea, the UK, 
the US and Vietnam. Some S$28.1 billion, 
or 71% of our AUM, are held under four 
Singapore-listed real estate investment 

estate funds. We strive to maintain an 
optimal capital structure that provides 

investment opportunities as and when 
they arise. 

To strengthen our corporate housing / 
serviced apartment business, we 

in February 2017. With the addition  
of 1,359 employees from Oakwood,  
as at 31 March 2017, we have over  
3,000 employees operating from a 

Singapore Commercial
Developer/investor/manager of primarily 

industrial and business park properties) 
in Singapore

Capital Management Platform
Singapore-listed REIT:

Singapore Industrial
Developer/investor/manager of industrial 
properties in Singapore

Capital Management Platform
Singapore-listed REIT:

Logistics
Developer/investor/manager of logistics 

Capital Management Platform
Singapore-listed REIT:

Our Growth Platforms

11Corporate Overview

China and India
Developer/investor/manager of 
properties in China and India

Capital Management Platform
Private real estate funds:

North Asia & New Markets
Developer/investor/manager of 
properties in Australia, Germany,  
Greater China, Japan, the UK and the US

Capital Management Platform
Singapore-listed REIT:

 
Commercial Trust

Private real estate funds:

Accommodation Private Trust

South East Asia
Developer/investor/manager  
of properties in South East Asia  

Capital Management Platform
Private real estate fund:

AUM by Geography

Vietnam S$1,262.7m

Australia S$1,144.8m

Hong Kong SAR S$7,516.2m

Japan S$3,376.3m

South Korea S$400.2m

Singapore S$15,188.1m

Malaysia S$585.0m

China S$5,358.3m

India S$246.0m

The UK S$2,522.1m

Germany S$242.9m

The US S$1,691.7m
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Message from
the Chairman

Mr Edmund Cheng
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FY16/17 Financial 
Performance

the third year Mapletree has embarked 
on its second Five-Year Business Plan. 
Despite challenging market conditions, 
it has been a very fruitful year for 
Mapletree. Without wavering from our 
business and key performance indicator 
targets, the Group has gained ground in 
markets beyond Asia. Hence we have 
set the theme for FY16/17 annual report 
as “Gaining Ground”.

The Group has achieved strong growth 
with total revenue of S$2,328.8 million 
and a record high PATMI1 of S$1,413.7 
million. The EBIT + SOA2 grew by 19%, to 

3) was 
11.2% in FY16/17 and net asset value 

CAGR4) since 31 March 2012 was 11.8%. 
These results are a testament to the 
Group’s robust business model as well 
as the discipline adopted in its operations 

sustainable returns. 

The upswing was mainly contributed by 
recurring PATMI, which has increased 
from S$529.4 million to S$643.6 million, 

key Asian markets, namely China, 
Malaysia, Japan, Singapore and Vietnam. 

Oakwood Portland Pearl District, a serviced apartment owned by Mapletree and managed  
by Oakwood in the US 

As a real estate developer, investor 
and capital manager, we are focused 
on investing in markets and real estate 
sectors with good growth potential. 

FY16/17 Highlights  
of Key Events

To build upon our portfolio of income-
producing assets and generate 
strong and consistent returns for our 
stakeholders, Mapletree has taken further 
steps to invest beyond Asia in FY16/17. 

At the beginning of the year, the Group 
made a strategic move to accelerate 
growth and strengthen its business park, 
corporate housing / serviced apartment, 
and student accommodation businesses 
globally by acquiring Green Park, an 
award-winning 7.9-hectare business park 
in Reading, Berkshire, UK in May 2016. 
We subsequently acquired a portfolio of 
seven student accommodation assets 

by assuming full ownership of Oakwood 
Worldwide, a premier global provider of 
corporate housing / serviced apartment 
solutions. With these acquisitions, 
the Group has gained presence and a 
stronger foothold in the US and the UK. 

In the same year, we also acquired 

use development comprising Grade A 

a F&B podium in District 1 of Ho Chi 
Minh City, Vietnam, in June. Enjoying 
an occupancy rate of over 90% across 

components, it has been the Group’s 
largest acquisition to-date in Vietnam. 

We are also committed to providing our 
investors with strong recurring earnings. 
The Group successfully closed Mapletree 
Global Student Accommodation Private 

trust in Singapore to focus on this strong-

investors the opportunity to invest in the 
stable income-producing and resilient 
student accommodation sector. 

To build upon our 

portfolio of income-

producing assets 

and generate strong 

and consistent 

returns for our 

stakeholders, 

Mapletree has  

taken further steps 

to invest beyond 

Asia in FY16/17. 

 
non-controlling interests) attributable to  
perpetual securities holders and equity  
holder of the Company.

 
 

associated companies and joint ventures  
 

 
and derivatives gains or losses.

3  ROIE is computed based on Operational PATMI 

over the Group’s equity from shareholder 
adjusted for unrealised revaluation gains or  

operating items including mark-to-market fair 
value adjustments and negative goodwill.

4  NAV CAGR is adjusted for dividends distributed 

controlling interests and perpetual securities and 
with NAV as of 31 March 2012 as starting base.
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Bursary recipients from the Singapore University of Technology and Design at an interaction session 
with Mapletree’s management in February 2017

A match in action at the Mapletree Futsal 
Challenge held at the Mapletree Business City 
futsal courts

Here in Asia, we continued to undertake 
opportunities to grow our real estate 

 
of-honour, Singapore’s Prime Minister  
Mr Lee Hsien Loong in March 2017. Since 
obtaining its Temporary Occupation 

7 has been well received by prominent 

building is one component in the vibrant 
work, live and play precinct which  
the Group has developed as Saigon 
South Place. 

master plan for rejuvenation when the 
development of Mapletree Business 

temporary occupation permit in April 
2016. Besides broadening the Group’s 
portfolio, the 30-storey MBC II is 
Singapore’s tallest business park. It has 
also earned prestigious awards for its 
environmentally sustainable design and 
development, namely the Singapore 
Building and Construction Authority’s 
Green Mark Platinum Award and the U.S. 

for LEED for Core & Shell Development 
Gold Level.

We continued to enlarge our footprint in 
Singapore with the completion of another 

to Tai Seng MRT station, the project 
received its TOP in November 2016. The 
retail centre commenced operations 
in February 2017 with a committed 
occupancy of 93%. 

We have also strengthened our presence 
in China with the launch of South China 
Singapore City International Education 

opening in January 2017 was graced by 
guest-of-honour, Singapore’s Minister of 
State for Manpower, Mr Teo Ser Luck.

Community Engagement

Since the start of Mapletree’s Corporate 

2011, the Group have continued to make 

by supporting their education and 
healthcare needs. We also seek to 

environmental sustainability practices 
and our support for the arts. As a key part 
of our commitment, we have set a goal 
to allocate S$2 million to CSR initiatives 

met in FY16/17. 

To date, the Group has committed over 

universities. As a home-grown company, 
we see our commitment to tertiary 
education also as helping to build a 
strong pipeline of talents for the future 
growth of our business. 

The Group has also contributed  
S$3 million to the endowment 

universities to establish the Mapletree 
Bursary and to sponsor book prizes for 
Bursary recipients who have done well 
academically. In addition, more than 
$98,000 was disbursed to fund book 

SIM Global Education.

Besides our support for education, we 
also held the inaugural Mapletree Futsal 
Challenge at Mapletree Business City 

a joint community engagement initiative 
between Mapletree and its tenants, 
which saw teams from Mapletree, MBC 
I and II tenants, and youth teams from 
Boys’ Town and Beyond Social Services 
competing for the Champion Cup.

Another area of focus for our CSR 
programme is at-risk youths. In 2015, we 
initiated the Mapletree Youth Resilience 

determined to continue studying despite 
their challenging socio-economic 
circumstances. We are happy to report 

progressing well in their studies, and two 
have been accepted into polytechnic. 

As the Group has performed well, with 
revenue increasing year-on-year, we hope 
to strengthen our CSR programmes and 
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Employees bringing elders out for an afternoon activity at Shanghai’s Xintiandi district

Driving Employee 
Engagement 

In the recent years, our employee 
strength has grown from 1,368 in 
FY12/13 to over 3,000 presently. To 
encourage employees engagement in 
various geographies to engage with 

has organised CSR activities aimed at 
gathering those with common interests 
to give back to the community.

include conducting reading sessions for 
students of PAP Community Foundation 
preschools in the vicinity of our corporate 
headquarters at MBC, as well as charity 
bazaars organised at Mapletree properties 
- VivoCity and MBC I and working together 

The Group also provides seed funding 

result has been positive, with China and 
India initiating their own CSR activities 
and rallying employees to participate.
 
Two years ago, we launched the 
Mapletree Academic Achievement 
Programme to sponsor diploma 
graduation book prizes under our CSR 

it to our employees’ children under the 

out in March 2017, and it was gratifying 
to see our employees, their children and 
even the grandparents at the ceremony.

Introduction to 
Sustainability Report

Given our focus on driving sustainability 
in Mapletree’s business operations, 

Report in this Annual Report. The 
Sustainability Report will outline the 
activities we have undertaken to meet the 

Reporting Guide. 
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Mr Hiew Yoon Khong

1. FY16/17 is the third year of 

plan. How has Mapletree 
performed, and what were 
some of the highlights?

It has been a rewarding year with 
the Group’s PATMI1 hitting a high of 
S$1,413.7 million, a 46% increase as 
compared to the previous year. Backed 
by strong recurring earnings, this year’s 
PATMI is the highest ever achieved since 
Mapletree’s establishment in 2000. This 
attests to the long-term viability of our 

integrated roles we play as a real estate 
developer, investor and capital manager 
to deliver strong and sustainable returns. 
In particular, we achieved recurring 
earnings of S$643.6 million, an increase 
of 22% compared to FY15/16. Overall,  
we are on track to meet our second  
Five-Year Business Plan KPI Targets. 

plan, the Group’s return on equity (ROE2) 
continues to remain strong at 12.8% for 
FY16/17. This means that our average 
ROE2 for these past three years is 11.1%, 
which is within our target of 10% to 15%. 

 
in FY16/17. What is the reason 
for steering in that direction, 
and what has Mapletree  
done to grow its presence  

While Asia is our core market and  
has presented the Group with 
opportunities for growth, the economic 
slowdown in this region has inevitably 
posed challenges to our growth in  
recent years. 

Interview with 
the Group CEO
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We have evaluated the market 
comprehensively and made a strategic 

economies like Australia, the United 

and Germany three years ago. These 
countries present attractive investment 
opportunities for us with their vibrant 
and mature real estate landscape, and 
we believe that student accommodation, 
corporate housing / serviced apartment, 

are real estate asset classes that are 

yields in these markets. 

With that in mind, we ventured into the 
student accommodation asset class 
in 2016, by acquiring two portfolios 
in the UK and the US. Both countries 
are home to the largest number of top 
universities in the world, and with the 
relatively anti-cyclical nature of student 
accommodation, we were able to grow 
new income streams and attain higher 
revenue of S$2,328.8 million in FY16/17. 
This is a 24% increase from a year ago.

Combining these two portfolios and 
adding another portfolio of similar 
properties in the US, we successfully 

syndicated the Mapletree Global  
Student Accommodation Private Trust 

opportunity to invest in an attractive 
and resilient income-yielding student 
accommodation portfolio of 35 assets, 
located across 22 cities in the UK and the 
US. The strong demand by investors for 
MGSA P-Trust validates our investment 
thesis for this alternative real estate asset 

in Mapletree’s track record of delivering 
the desired returns. 

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) FY16/17 Target by FY18/19

Returns

Five-year NAV CAGR3 11.8% 10% - 15%

4 11.2% 10% - 15%

Earnings

EBIT + SOA5 S$1,575.1 million S$1.6 billion - S$2.3 billion

Fee Income6 S$277.4 million
 

cumulative: S$785.1 million)

S$350 million - S$500 million  
(Five-year cumulative: >S$1.5 billion) 

Scale

S$39.5 billion S$40 billion - S$50 billion

2.5:1 >3:1

controlling interests) attributable to perpetual 
securities holders and equity holder of  
the Company.

2  ROE denotes return on equity and is computed 
based on PATMI attributable to equity holders  
of the Company over shareholder’s funds.

3  NAV CAGR is adjusted for dividends distributed  

controlling interests and perpetual securities and 
with NAV as at 31 March 2012 as starting base.

4  ROIE denotes return on invested equity and  
is computed based on Operational PATMI  

over the Group’s equity from shareholder 
adjusted for unrealised revaluation gains or  

operating items including mark-to-market fair 
value adjustments and negative goodwill.

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 
 

gains or losses.
6 Including REIT management fees.
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which are anchored by a strong tenant 
base for stable and growing yields. 

3. With several acquisitions  
in FY16/17 in the US and UK, 
has Asia taken a back seat?

Although our AUM in New Markets – 
Australia, Europe and the US – grew from 
S$398.1 million to S$5.6 billion over the 
last three years, and currently account 
for 14% of our total AUM, Asia remains 

 
on investing in this region. In addition, 
82% of the Group’s revenue is generated 
from Asia-based assets. 

Our two private funds in Japan – MJOF, 

a Japan-focused logistics development 
fund – have been active in sourcing  
and investing in new projects. During  
the year, MJLD committed to four 

logistics projects at a development 

bringing the total number of assets  
under MJLD to 11. 

In addition, we have started construction 

Osaka. Upon completion in 2019, it 
will be leased to one of Japan’s largest 
electronic retailers. 

In June 2016, Mapletree made its largest 
investment in Vietnam by acquiring 
Kumho Asiana Plaza, located at the 
heart of the central business district, 
District 1 of Ho Chi Minh City. It is one 

serviced apartments and a hotel 
managed by InterContinental Hotels 
Group. This income-yielding investment 
is part of the Group’s overall strategy to 
further grow its sustainable earnings. 

In February 2017, we also acquired 

premier global provider of corporate 
housing / serviced apartment solutions. 
The acquisition comes after a three-year 
partnership and includes all of Oakwood’s 
global operations which manages over 
14,000 units worldwide. It strengthens 
and supports the growth momentum  
of Mapletree’s corporate housing / 
serviced apartment business globally.  
As at 31 March 2017, Mapletree owns nine 
corporate housing / serviced apartment 
properties in the US and one corporate 
housing / serviced apartment property in 
Australia. In addition to these, Mapletree 
has two corporate housing /serviced 
apartment properties in Japan and one 
more in Vietnam under development. 

In the business park space, we acquired 

winning business park in Reading, UK, in 
May 2016. The acquisition was part of our 

quality, income-producing assets with 

Mapletree Business City II was completed in April 2016, and features a 30-storey business park building and recreational facilities 
such as futsal and basketball courts
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base. This has delivered results, with 
considerable value generated to the 
Group’s shareholder’s funds over the 
years. Shareholder’s funds grew to 
S$11.2 billion in FY16/17, a 13% increase 
from S$9.9 billion the year before. In 
addition, the Group achieved a return 

4) of 18.7% 

ROIE4 to 11.2%. 

As a capital manager, we actively look
to bring to the market quality and 
relevant investment products, whilst 

suitable, stable and income-producing 
assets for acquisition, thus ensuring that 
they have a steady pipeline of assets 
for their investment needs.

In August 2016, Mapletree Commercial 

Completed in 2010, MBC I has a strong 
and diverse tenant base consisting of 
reputable multinational corporations 
and enjoys a high occupancy of 99%. 

the acquisition was very successful with 
S$1.04 billion raised, and was accorded 

Bookbuild at the GlobalCapital Asia 
Regional Capital Markets Awards 2016.

During the year, we also successfully 
syndicated MGSA P-Trust. This was 

the product to market quickly. It was 

on an ongoing basis without the lengthy 
process to launch an initial public 

costs to maintain a REIT. Divesting 
suitable assets to our listed and private 
funds reduces the weight on our balance 
sheet and frees up capital for the Group 
to pursue new growth opportunities. To 
ensure a clear alignment of interests with 
investors, we maintain at least a 25% 
stake in all the funds we manage.

Over time, we plan to scale up our 
student accommodation portfolio, and 
create a series of private trusts focused 
on this strong, resilient asset class. 

portfolio achieves its target of US$1.5 to 

we will syndicate another private trust. 
We are evaluating potential acquisitions 
in the US and UK, and prospecting in 
markets like Australia, Germany, the 
Netherlands and Spain, where the 
tertiary education sector is growing. 

Interview with the Group CEO

An artist impression of Mapletree Kobe Logistics Centre, Japan, one of the four logistics projects committed by MJLD in FY16/17

South China Singapore City International 
Education Zone, part of Nanhai Business 
City Phase 4, in January 2017. Nanhai 

development which features retail, 

Also in China, we have invested in 34 
logistics projects, with more than 80% 

and 2 cities.

In Singapore, 18 Tai Seng, a nine-storey 

2016 and opened the retail space in 
February 2017. 

Earlier in April 2016, Mapletree Business 

30 storeys, this is Singapore’s tallest 

phase of the master plan to rejuvenate 

4. As an investor and capital 
manager, how does Mapletree 
manage to continuously 
grow its recurring income 
and sustain returns in Asia 
and beyond?

As a capital manager, we seek to 
syndicate and grow our third-party 

private funds) to create a stable earnings 

4  ROIE denotes return on invested equity and 
is computed based on Operational PATMI 

over the Group’s equity from shareholder 
adjusted for unrealised revaluation gains or 

operating items including mark-to-market fair 
value adjustments and negative goodwill.
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From left to right (seated):
David Christopher Ryan 
Paul Ma Kah Woh 
Hiew Yoon Khong 
Edmund Cheng
Lee Chong Kwee
Elaine Teo

From left to right (standing): 
Cheah Kim Teck 
Wong Meng Meng 
Tsang Yam Pui 
Samuel N. Tsien

Board of
Directors
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Mapletree adopts the principle 

that an effective Board of Directors 

is one constituted with the right 

core competencies and diversity 

of experiences for the growth 

and success of the Group. The 

collective wisdom of the Board 

provides strategic guidance  

and diverse insights to support  

the Management.



Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd | Annual Report 2016/201722

Edmund Cheng, 64
Chairman
 
Mr Edmund Cheng is the Chairman  
of the Board of Directors of Mapletree 

and Compensation Committee, and 
Investment Committee.
 
Mr Cheng is concurrently the Deputy 
Chairman of Wing Tai Holdings Limited, 

Malaysia), and Deputy Chairman of  
Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore.
 

 
as a property developer, Mr Cheng is 
actively involved in the public and private 
sectors. From 2005 to 2013, he was 
Chairman of the National Arts Council 

promote and develop an arts landscape.  
Mr Cheng previously served as Chairman 

as well as Founding Chairman of The Old 

and Chairman of the Singapore Tourism 

on the Board of Trustees of Nanyang 

He was also the Chairman of SATS Ltd  
 

the Board of Singapore Airlines Limited 

was a past President of the Real Estate 
Developers’ Association of Singapore 

Presidential Council. 
 
Mr Cheng was awarded the Meritorious 
Service Medal in 2015, the Public 

President of the Republic of Singapore 

received the Outstanding Contribution 
to Tourism Award from the Singapore 
Government in 2002. In 2009, he was 

des Lettres” by the Government of the 
Republic of France.

Lee Chong Kwee, 60
Director
 
Mr Lee Chong Kwee is a member of the 
MIPL Board and the Chairman of its 
Audit and Risk Committee as well as  
its Transaction Review Committee.
 

of Mapletree Logistics Trust Management 

Trust) and a Corporate Advisor to 
Temasek Holdings. Mr Lee was 

 
of Jurong Port Pte Ltd and also served 
on the Advisory Boards of the National 
University of Singapore Business School 

 

 
of the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Paul Ma Kah Woh, 69
Director
 
Mr Paul Ma Kah Woh is a member of the 
MIPL Board and a member of its Audit and 

Compensation Committee and Investment 

Chairman of Mapletree Greater China 
Commercial Trust Management Ltd, the 
manager of Mapletree Greater China 
Commercial Trust.

Concurrently, Mr Ma is a Director  

listed on the Main Board of the 
 

Mr Ma is a member of the National 
Heritage Board where he also chairs  
their Audit Committee.
 
Mr Ma is a fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales as well as a member of 
the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants.

Tsang Yam Pui, 70
Director

Mr Tsang Yam Pui is a member of the 
MIPL Board and a member of its Audit 
and Risk Committee. He is also the 

Commercial Trust Management Ltd 

Trust). Mr Tsang is concurrently the 

Director of NWS Holdings Limited, a 
leading infrastructure and services 
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock 

Chairman and Director of New World 
First Bus Services Limited, New World 

World First Ferry Services Limited and 
Citybus Limited. In addition, Mr Tsang 
is a Director of GHK Hospital Limited 

Kee Holdings Ltd based in Hong Kong 
SAR. He is also an Alternate Director of 
Goshawk Aviation Limited and a Director 
of Bauhinia Aviation Capital Limited 
based in the Republic of Ireland. 

Prior to Mr Tsang’s appointment with 
NWS Holdings Limited, he served in the 
Hong Kong Police Force for 38 years 
where he held many key appointments 
before retiring as its Commissioner  
in 2003.

For his distinguished public service,  
Mr Tsang was awarded the Gold Bauhinia 

 
the British Empire, the Queen’s Police 
Medal and the Colonial Police Medal  
for Meritorious Service.

Wong Meng Meng, 68
Director

Mr Wong Meng Meng, Senior Counsel,  
is a member of the MIPL Board, a 
member of its Audit and Risk Committee 
and a member of its Transaction Review 
Committee. Mr Wong is also the  

Industrial Trust Management Ltd 

Board of
Directors



23Board of Directors

Trust) and Chairman of Energy 
Market Company Pte Ltd. Mr Wong 
is concurrently a Director of NIE 
International Private Limited.

Mr Wong is the Founder-Consultant  
of WongPartnership LLP, a leading law 

Competition Appeal Board, Singapore 
and a member of the Advisory Board  
of the Faculty of Law, National University 
of Singapore. He was also the President 
of the Law Society of Singapore from 
2010 to 2012.

David Christopher Ryan, 47
Director

Mr David Christopher Ryan is a member 
of the MIPL Board and a member of its 
Investment Committee. Mr Ryan serves 
on the board of directors for the Jackson 

ADT Security Services Corporation.
 
Mr Ryan was the immediate past 
President of Goldman Sachs Asia 

Committee. Mr Ryan joined Goldman 
Sachs in 1992, and spent nine years in Asia 
before returning to the US in end 2013.
 
He was made partner of Goldman Sachs 
in 2004 at age 34. In addition to his role 
on the MIPL Board, Mr Ryan remains a 
Senior Director of Goldman Sachs & Co. 
and serves as a Corporate Advisor to 
Temasek Holdings.

Samuel N. Tsien, 62
Director

Mr Samuel N. Tsien is a member of the 
MIPL Board.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation 

and a member of the board of directors 
of various other companies in the OCBC 
group. Prior to these appointments, he 

and Global Head, Global Corporate Bank 
of OCBC. He is a Council member of the 
Association of Banks in Singapore and 
a member of the Monetary Authority of 

Singapore’s Financial Centre Advisory 

Prior to joining OCBC, Mr Tsien was 

President and as Asia Commercial and 

Bank of America Corporation.

Mr Tsien has held other senior 
management positions in corporate 
banking, retail banking and risk 
management at Bank of America in  
Hong Kong SAR and San Francisco.

Elaine Teo, 50
Director

Ms Elaine Teo is a member of the  
MIPL Board. 
 

and Independent Director of Olam 
International Limited. Ms Teo has over  

primarily with the Capital Group 
companies where she focused on Asian 
banks and global emerging markets, 
both as an analyst and an investment 
manager. She was formerly the Chairman 
of Capital International Research Group 
and Managing Director of Capital 
International Inc., Asia. Ms Teo was  
also a Senior Advisor and Partner at  
the Holdingham Group Ltd. 

Ms Teo also serves on the board of 

organisation focused on training and 
support of caregivers to persons with 
mental illness in Singapore. In addition, 
she is a member of the International 
Development Group of the Jesuit 
Refugee Service.
 
Ms Teo holds a Bachelor of Arts 

Cheah Kim Teck, 65
Director

Mr Cheah Kim Teck is a member of 
the MIPL Board and was formerly an 
Independent Director and a member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee of Mapletree 

Logistics Trust Management Ltd.
Mr Cheah is currently the Managing 
Director, Business Development of Jardine 

is responsible for overseeing JC&C’s 
investment in Truong Hai Auto Corporation 
and developing new lines of business in 
the region. Mr Cheah is also a Director  

He was formerly the CEO for JC&C’s 

by PT Astra International Tbk) until 
he stepped down from his position 
in December 2013. He also served 
on JC&C’s Board from 2005 to 2014. 
Prior to joining JC&C, Mr Cheah held 
several senior marketing positions 
in multinational companies, namely 
McDonald’s Restaurants, Kentucky  
Fried Chicken and Coca-Cola. 

Mr Cheah holds a Master of Marketing 
degree from the University of Lancaster, 
United Kingdom.

Hiew Yoon Khong, 55
Director and Group  

Mr Hiew Yoon Khong is a member of the 

Director of Mapletree Logistics Trust 
Management Ltd, Mapletree Industrial 
Trust Management Ltd, Mapletree 
Commercial Trust Management Ltd, and 
Mapletree Greater China Commercial 
Trust Management Ltd.

Mr Hiew joined Mapletree in 2003 as 

since led the Group from a Singapore-
centric real estate company worth  
S$2.3 billion to a global company with 
total assets under management of more 
than S$39 billion.

From 2003 to 2011, Mr Hiew was 
concurrently Senior Managing Director 

His past directorships include serving  
as a member on the Board of Trustees  
of the National University of Singapore.

Mr Hiew holds a Master of Arts degree  
in Economics from the University  
of Warwick, and a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Economics from the University 
of Portsmouth.
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Mr Hiew is a member of the MIPL 

Director of Mapletree Logistics Trust 
Management Ltd, Mapletree Industrial 
Trust Management Ltd, Mapletree 
Commercial Trust Management 
Ltd, and Mapletree Greater China 
Commercial Trust Management Ltd.

Mr Hiew joined Mapletree in 2003 as 

since led the Group from a Singapore-
centric real estate company worth 
S$2.3 billion to a global company with 

total assets under management of more 
than S$39 billion.

From 2003 to 2011, Mr Hiew was 
concurrently Senior Managing Director 

His past directorships include serving 
as a member on the Board of Trustees 
of the National University of Singapore.

Mr Hiew holds a Master of Arts degree 
in Economics from the University 
of Warwick, and a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Economics from the University 
of Portsmouth.

Hiew Yoon Khong, 55

Wong Mun Hoong, 51

Chua Tiow Chye, 58

Mr Chua, as Deputy Group Chief 

the Group’s strategy initiatives including 

Group’s international real estate 
investments and developments. He also 
directly oversees the Group’s non-REIT 
business in North Asia and Australia, 
and in the corporate housing / serviced 
apartment sector. Previously, Mr Chua 

of North Asia & New Markets.

Mr Chua concurrently serves as a Non-

Mapletree Greater China Commercial 
Trust Management Ltd. He was also 

of MLTM. 

Prior to joining Mapletree in 2002, 
Mr Chua held senior positions with 
various companies including Vision 
Century Corporation Ltd, Ascendas 
Pte Ltd, Singapore Food Industries 
Pte Ltd and United Overseas Bank Ltd.

Treasury, Private Funds Management, 
Risk Management, and Information 
Systems & Technology functions 
of the Mapletree Group.

of Mapletree Logistics Trust 
Management Ltd, Mapletree 

Industrial Trust Management 
Ltd, Mapletree Commercial Trust 
Management Ltd and CapitaLand 
Township Development Fund. 

Prior to joining Mapletree in 2006, 
Mr Wong had over 14 years of investment 

last 10 years were with Merrill Lynch & Co.

Group Senior
Management
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Amy Ng Lee Hoon, 50

Wendy Koh Mui Ai, 45 

Commercial, oversees Mapletree’s retail 
business and the Singapore Commercial 
portfolio. She has direct responsibility 
over the Group’s non-REIT retail assets 
and operations in Singapore, China, 
Malaysia and Vietnam, where she 

and leadership. 

Ms Ng joined Mapletree in 2010 as the 

Investments. She was appointed the 

Director of Mapletree Commercial Trust 
Management Ltd from 2011 to July 
2015, and was responsible for the IPO 
of Mapletree Commercial Trust in April 
2011. Prior to joining Mapletree, Ms 
Ng held various appointments in the 
CapitaLand group of companies.

Ms Koh heads Mapletree’s business 
in South East Asia. She has direct 
responsibility over the Group’s non-REIT 
assets in this region. 
 
Prior to this, she was overseeing 
strategy, planning and research for 
Mapletree as Head, Strategy and 
Research. In that capacity, she provided 
investment analysis and evaluation of 
opportunities in new markets. She was 
also previously engaged by Mapletree as 
an advisor to review the Group’s strategy 
implementation from FY09/10 to FY13/14, 
and was involved in the formulation of 

 

Prior to joining Mapletree, Ms Koh 

Research, at Citi Investment Research. 

a real estate equities analyst, she was 
involved in many IPOs and capital raising 
deals including for Mapletree Logistics 
Trust, Mapletree Industrial Trust and 
Mapletree Commercial Trust.

Quek Kwang Meng, 51

business and investments in India. He 
has direct responsibility over the Group’s 
assets in this market. Before his current 
appointment in June 2016, Mr Quek was 
also overseeing the Group’s non-REIT 
activities in the China market.

Prior to joining Mapletree, Mr Quek 
was the Global Co-head/Managing 
Director for real estate investments 
in Citi Private Bank.
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Logistics Trust Management Ltd. Prior 
to this appointment in July 2012, Ms 
Ng was Mapletree’s Chief Investment 

she was responsible for managing 
the acquisitions, development and 
operations of Mapletree’s investment 
portfolio in the region. She was also 

Prior to joining Mapletree in 2007,  
Ms Ng was with Temasek Holdings for 

investments. Preceding that, Ms Ng 
was Vice President at the CapitaLand 
group of companies, where she was 
responsible for real estate investments 
and cross-border mergers and 
acquisitions activities in South East  
Asia and Europe.

Ng Kiat, 47

businesses in Europe and the US 

Prior to joining Mapletree, Mr Smith was 
a partner at Goldman Sachs, heading 
the South East Asia investment banking 
business as well as the bank’s Asia 

As one of the pioneers of the Asian  
REIT industry, Mr Smith has been 
involved in numerous IPOs, including the 
IPOs of all four Mapletree REITs.

He was also involved in various 

including the acquisition of Festival Walk 
in Hong Kong SAR, Gateway Plaza in 
Beijing, as well as in the collaboration 
with Oakwood Worldwide in 2014. 

and prior to Goldman Sachs, he was 

Investment Banking of UBS from 2000  
to 2006.

Michael Smith, 48

of Mapletree’s China business. He has 
direct responsibility over the Group’s 
non-REIT business in China market, 
driving investments and operations  
for the region’s business platform. Prior 
to this appointment, Mr Goh was the 

Development, China, where he doubled 
the Group’s investment portfolio beyond 
Central and Western China to Northern 
and Southern China. 

Prior to joining Mapletree, Mr Goh was 

Operations at Resorts World at Sentosa 
Pte Ltd. His 24 years of wide-ranging 

Ministry of Finance, Monetary Authority 
of Singapore and Ministry of Trade & 
Industry. In addition, he was the former 
CEO of Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-
City Investment & Development Co. 
Ltd and also previously headed the 
China Business Partnership Unit of the 
Government of Singapore Investment 
Corporation Pte Ltd.

Goh Chye Boon, 47
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Greater China Commercial Trust 
Management Ltd. She was previously 

she was instrumental in establishing 
Mapletree’s investments in the country. 

Ms Chow joined Mapletree in 2002 as 
a Business Development Manager. She 
later became the Senior Vice President 
and Head of Investment for Mapletree 
Logistics Trust Management Ltd. In 

that capacity, she was responsible for 
sourcing, identifying and evaluating 
potential acquisitions in the region, as 
well as recommending and analysing 
potential asset enhancement initiatives, 
with a view to enhance Mapletree 
Logistics Trust’s portfolio.

Cindy Chow Pei Pei, 47

Management Ltd

Industrial Trust Management Ltd. He was 

Mapletree’s Industrial business unit. In 
that capacity, he was responsible for 
structuring, establishing and managing 
real estate investment platforms in 
Singapore and the region.

Mr Tham joined Mapletree in 2002 and 
has since held various positions with 
the Group. Prior to joining Mapletree, he 
was in various engineering and logistics 
management roles with PSA Corporation.

Tham Kuo Wei, 48

Commercial Trust Management Ltd 
 

January 2015 as the Chief Operating 

Prior to joining Mapletree, Ms Lim was 
CapitaMalls Asia’s Country Head for 
Malaysia since 2008 and was appointed 

Malaysia Trust, listed on Bursa Malaysia 
in 2010.

Sharon Lim Hwee Li, 44
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Mr Tan heads up Group Development 
Management where he oversees the 

including asset enhancement initiatives 
undertaken within the Mapletree Group 
across all business units and countries.

Prior to joining Mapletree in 2012, he 
spent 18 years with Lendlease Group 
in various senior positions. Mr Tan 

has over 25 years of design, project/

the industrial, logistics, pharmaceutical, 
telecommunications, institutional, retail 

geographies.

Tan Wee Seng, 51 
Head, Group Development Management

Mr Wan is the Joint Company Secretary 
of MIPL. He is concurrently Head, Group 
Corporate Services and Group General 
Counsel of MIPL, where he is responsible 
for all of administration, corporate 
communications, human resource as 
well as take charge of legal, compliance 
and corporate secretarial matters.
 
Prior to joining MIPL in 2009, Mr Wan 
was Group General Counsel – Asia at 

where he was a key member of its Asia 
 

career as a litigation lawyer with one  
 

Wee Swee Teow & Co., and was 
subsequently with the Corporate  
& Commercial/Private Equity practice 
group of Baker & Mackenzie in Singapore 
and Sydney.

conferred the Wise Speke Prize, as well 

attended the London Business School 

called to the Singapore Bar, where he 
was conferred the Justice FA Chua 
Memorial Prize, and is also on the  

 
He was conferred the Public Service 

contributions to community service.

Wan Kwong Weng, 45
Head, Group Corporate Services and Group General Counsel
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Highlights
of the Year

Mapletree Business City II, Singapore

Green Park, Reading, the UK

May 2016

Mapletree acquired Green Park, 
a 79-ha award-winning business park 

A comprehensively-planned business 
park within a well-landscaped campus 
setting, the freehold property boasted 
occupancy of 91.5% at acquisition, 
increasing to 93% as at March 2017  
due to active management. The current 
19 Grade A buildings have a net lettable 

available for a further development 
potential of 880,000 sq ft.

Mapletree started the construction  
of Mapletree Logistics Hub – Shah  
Alam in Malaysia. The three blocks of 
two-storey ramp-up multi-tenanted 
logistics and warehousing facilities 

June 2016

Mapletree commenced development  
of Saigon South Place Phase 3 –  
an Oakwood-branded serviced 
apartment and a high-rise residential 
block, RichLane Residences – in the 

and Oakwood Residence Saigon to  
start operations in early 2018.

Saigon South Place, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

April 2016

Mapletree completed the construction  
 

Singapore’s tallest high-rise business 
park building at 30 storeys, which 
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four dry warehouse facilities in Sydney, 

from the central business district, they 
are fully leased to established local 
industry players with a weighted average 

annual escalations.

September 2016

MJLD celebrated the groundbreaking 
of Mapletree Chiba New Town Logistics 
Centre. A multi-storey distribution facility 
in Chiba Prefecture, Japan, which is 

APAC Fund Manager Guide and second 
among Asia-based fund managers by 
PERE Magazine. This ranking was based 

private real estate investment vehicles 
between January 2011 and March 2016.

Mapletree was named the Best Overall 
Industrial/Warehouse Developer in 
Singapore at the Euromoney Real Estate 
Awards. The awards are based on 
the results of an annual survey of real 

institutions, investors and corporate end-
users worldwide. Mapletree won a similar 
award for the Vietnam market in 2015.

Also in District 1 of HCMC, Mapletree 
acquired Kumho Asiana Plaza, a 

146,000 sqm. The property enjoys high 
occupancy rates of over 90% across 
its multiple components, comprising 

32-storey serviced apartment tower, 
21-storey hotel, and a retail podium. 
 
In Singapore, Mr Hiew Yoon Khong, 

Mapletree and Board Member of M+S 

ceremony of Marina One. Mapletree is 
the project manager for the integrated 
development which is on track for 
completion in 2017. 

Private fund MJLD completed the 
construction of I Missions Park Sakai,  
a multi-tenanted distribution facility  

 
port area. It is part of a joint venture  
with ITOCHU Corporation and has  
a GFA of 124,939 sqm.

July 2016

Mapletree signed an agreement with 
Best Logistics, a leading logistics player 

Park. The property comprises two blocks 
of high quality, single-storey warehouses 

 
of 35,735 sqm with complete amenities 
to support the freight distribution 
businesses in the vicinity.

Mapletree Hangzhou Xiaoshan Logistics 
Park secured a lease with the logistics 
arm of Alibaba Group, which committed 
51,368 sqm of the overall NLA of 

improve its distribution network in Zhejiang 
province. The logistics park was completed 
in 2016, and comprises three blocks 
of double-storey ramp-up warehouses 

Viva Costa, the residential component 

Development in China, received 

day of its marketing launch. A total of  
311 units were launched and nearly  
90% were sold within two months.

Mapletree Business City I, Singapore

Mapletree earned the Patron of the Arts 
Award from Singapore’s National Arts 
Council for the second time. The award 
celebrates and recognises organisations 
and individuals who have contributed 

 
of the arts. 

August 2016

In conjunction with SC VivoCity’s  

Smile Vietnam to support the medical 
needs of 100 underprivileged children 
with congenital harelip and cleft palate.

In Singapore, Mapletree completed the 

park components of Mapletree Business 

NLA of over 1.7 million sq ft, MBC I has 
enjoyed strong demand from a strong 
and diverse tenant base consisting of 
reputable multinational corporations 

the acquisition, MCT launched an equity 
 

Strong support was garnered from 

overnight private placement over  
3.8 times covered and preferential 

 
a total of S$1.04 billion. 
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Mapletree completed the divestment of 
Mapletree Shah Alam Logistics Park to  

Comprising three blocks of single-
storey multi-tenanted warehouses 

developed in Malaysia.

In Singapore, Mapletree provided 6,000 
copies of the follow-up Activity Book 

participating preschools as teaching 
materials under the Early Childhood 
Development Agency’s “Start Small 
Dream Big 2016” initiative. This was part 
of the Group’
Singapore’s founding Prime Minister,  
the late Mr Lee Kuan Yew.

Build-to-suit facility for Hewlett-Packard, Singapore

Activity Book

occupied and is MLT’s third property  
in the country.

Mapletree received the Operation 

Facility Occupier Category) from the 
International Facility Management 

This award recognises the value-creation 
arising from facility management strategies.

October 2016

for Phase One of the BTS development 
for Hewlett-Packard Singapore, which 
comprises an 11-storey Hi-Tech Building 
with GFA of 421,000 sq ft. Phase Two  
of the development, comprising an  
eight-storey Hi-Tech Building with  

completed in the second quarter of 2017. 

Owned by Mapletree Greater China 
Commercial Trust, Festival Walk in Hong 
Kong SAR won the Gold Stevie® for 
Corporate Social Responsibility Program 

Korea), as well as the Silver Stevie® for Best 

Awards). The awards attracted more than 
3,800 nominations from over 60 countries. 

MJLD completed the construction  
of Mapletree Ashikaga Logistics  
Centre 2, a single-storey multi-tenanted 

The Lofts at City Center, Alabama, the US

Mapletree Ashikaga Logistics Centre 2, 
Ashikaga, Japan

Ashikaga, Japan. This facility is adjacent 
to Mapletree Ashikaga Logistics Centre 1.

November 2016

Mapletree marked its entry into the United 

market with the acquisition of a portfolio 
of seven assets comprising close to  

 
31 March 2017, Mapletree has 32 student 
accommodation assets in the UK and  
the US.

Mapletree completed the divestment  
of Mapletree Logistics Park Binh Duong 
Phase 2 to MLT for VND339.2 billion 

four blocks of single-storey multi-
tenanted warehouses with mezzanine 

Mapletree has signed a joint venture 
agreement with ITOCHU, where the latter 
will co-invest alongside the former in 17 
logistics development projects in China 
and Malaysia. This is in tandem with the 
strategic alliance which started in 2005.

VivoCity celebrated its 10th anniversary 
as Singapore’s largest retail and lifestyle 
destination. In conjunction with the mall’s 
anniversary, the mall reopened its newly 
renovated Children’s Play Area at Level 
Two and launched the “Revival of Punch 
Buddies” marketing campaign.
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Signing ceremony to mark the start of a new chapter for Oakwood Worldwide under Mapletree ownership

Mapletree’s South China Singapore City 
International Education Zone, a part of 

Mr Teo Ser Luck, Singapore’s Minister of 
State for Manpower. 

February 2017

Mapletree acquired Oakwood Worldwide 
to strengthen its corporate housing / 
serviced apartment business. The 
acquisition covers all of Oakwood’s 
global operations with former Oakwood 

 
Ahearn helming the business as Chief 

December 2016

MLT acquired four properties with a total 

Victoria, Australia, for A$142.2 million 

MLT has nine properties in the country, 
providing further geographical and 

January 2017

Construction has started for Inzai 
Logistics Centre, a joint development 
between Mapletree and ITOCHU. 
Scheduled to be completed by March 

Prefecture, Japan, will have a total GFA 
of 110,923 sqm.

Mapletree issued S$625 million principal 
amount of 4.50% perpetual securities 
pursuant to its US$5 billion Euro Medium 
Term Note Programme. This was the 

public Asian hybrid issuance of 2017. 

18 Tai Seng, Singapore 

South China Singapore City International 
Education Zone, Nanhai, China

Mapletree opened its retail centre for 
18 Tai Seng in Singapore, achieving 
committed occupancy of 93% for the 

 
use development, comprising retail, 

obtained its TOP in November 2016.

Mapletree celebrated the groundbreaking 
of Mapletree Chengdu Qingbaijiang 

blocks of single-storey warehouses and 
two blocks of double-storey ramp-up 
warehouses, the property is strategically 
located at the junction of the Specialised 
Cargo Highway and Beijing-Kunming 

MJLD acquired a portfolio of three BTS 
logistics assets, namely Odawara Centre 1, 
Odawara Centre 2 and Joso Centre, for 

Mapletree. Strategically located in the 
Kanto region of Japan, the portfolio is 
100% occupied by blue-chip tenants.

March 2017

MIT announced the development of its 

built data centre with a GFA of about 
242,000 sq ft. Located in the West 
region of Singapore, this BTS project is 

half of 2018, and will be fully leased to an 
established data centre operator for an 
initial lease term of more than 10 years 
with staggered rental escalations. 

MJLD acquired a site in Kobe, Japan,  
to be developed as a four-storey multi-
tenanted logistics facility with a total GFA 

to commence in January 2018 and be 



33Highlights of the Year

Mapletree held its inaugural Mapletree 

Ceremony in Singapore to recognise 
the academic achievements of its 
employees’ children. The EduAwards 
comprise cash awards ranging from 
S$150 to S$500 and are presented twice 

given out. 

In Singapore, Mapletree organised the 

charity fundraiser, in partnership with 
Mapletree Business City tenants. All 
proceeds went to programmes for  
youths from less privileged backgrounds. 

outreach in August 2016, where 

match against youths from the Group’s 

Match between MBC’s tenants at the Mapletree 
Futsal Challenge

Green Park provided venue sponsorship 
for the annual Reading Half Marathon, 

Cancer Research UK. More than 10,000 
runners participated in the 13.1-mile race 

going around the town of Reading. 

Mapletree successfully raised equity  

for Mapletree Global Student 

focusing on this resilient and strong-
yielding sector. The Trust currently holds 

Mapletree Business Centre, Ho Chi Minh City, 
Vietnam 

Oakwood Apartments Azabudai, Tokyo, JapanHawley Crescent, London, the UK

student accommodation assets located 
in the UK and the US, and has a term  

Mapletree Business Centre in HCMC, 
 

Mr Lee Hsien Loong, Prime Minister  
of Singapore. Designed to international 

in the country and represents the 
completion of Saigon South Place  
Phase 2.

The construction of Oakwood 
Apartments Azabudai, a 48-unit serviced 
apartment development in Tokyo, 
Japan, was completed. It is managed 
by Oakwood under the Oakwood 
Apartments brand.

King’s Place, the residential development 
in NBC 4, had sold all of its units from 

the popularity of Mapletree’s residential 
products in China.

Mapletree celebrated the groundbreaking 
of a 21,000 sqm retail development in 
Osaka, Japan. Upon completion in 2019, 
this property will be leased to one of 
Japan’s largest electronics retailers.  

 
in Japan.
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Income Statement 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
 FY12/13 FY13/14 FY14/15 FY15/16 FY16/17

Revenue  1,388.9   1,521.9   1,633.9   1,878.9   2,328.8 

 

EBIT + SOA1  877.3   1,042.2   1,141.4   1,326.9   1,575.1 

Others  –   –   42.4   28.7   36.7 

Recurring PATMI   276.6   381.7   474.0   529.4   643.6 
Asset revaluation gains2  297.5   478.0   545.9   404.1   662.1 
Corporate restructuring surplus and disposal gains – net2  355.5   14.6  3.1  8.3   197.6 

3

PATMI4  951.5   878.2   1,003.6   965.2   1,413.7 

Attributable to:     
Equity holder of the Company   917.2   828.6   954.0   915.6   1,349.6 
Perpetual securities holders  34.3   49.6   49.6   49.6   64.1 

  951.5   878.2   1,003.6   965.2   1,413.7 

 
(Operational PATMI5)  781.6   392.7   467.6   583.9   1,376.5 

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 
 

gains or losses.

share of associated companies’ and joint 
ventures’ revaluation gains or losses.

share of associated companies and joint ventures, 
mark-to-market fair value adjustments, negative 
goodwill, dilution gains or losses and the like.

controlling interests) attributable to perpetual 
securities holders and equity holder of  
the Company.

5   Operational PATMI denotes net income derived 
from the underlying operating activities of the 
Group including, inter-alia, real estate leasing 
and sales activities, capital management fee 
income businesses, investments in real estate 
related assets and/or securities, and corporate 

losses on disposal and corporate restructuring 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement), 
unrealised gains or losses, inter-alia, pure 
revaluation gains or losses, negative goodwill  
and dilution gains or losses are not included.

6  ROE denotes return on equity and is computed 
based on PATMI attributable to equity holders  
of the Company over shareholder’s funds.

7  ROIE is computed based on Operational PATMI 

over the Group’s equity from shareholder 
adjusted for unrealised revaluation gains or  

operating items including mark-to-market fair 
value adjustments and negative goodwill.

8  NAV CAGR is adjusted for dividends distributed 

controlling interests and perpetual securities and 
with NAV as of 31 March 2012 as starting base.

9  Recurring Core PATMI is derived from  
Recurring PATMI less incentive fees and 

10  Relate to acquisitions and developments 
completed in FY16/17.

Footnotes:

Financial 
Review
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Balance Sheet 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
 FY12/13 FY13/14 FY14/15 FY15/16 FY16/17

Assets
Investment properties:     
 Completed properties  19,264.4   20,478.0   22,453.9   27,567.1   30,386.8 
 Under redevelopment  30.4   304.1   704.3   996.5  299.6
Property held for sale  31.2   15.9   17.2   16.5   41.2 
Properties under development  560.1   1,443.3   1,790.4   1,647.2   1,663.0 
Property, plant and equipment  12.4   10.3   9.1   11.3   175.6 
Investments in associated companies and joint ventures  876.3   621.3   922.4   871.0   1,279.0 
Cash and cash equivalents  2,263.5   717.0   752.0   1,027.0   1,179.8 
Others  418.5   414.9   554.5   821.4   1,234.2 

Total Assets  23,456.8   24,004.8   27,203.8   32,958.0   36,259.2 

Liabilities
Borrowings/Medium term notes  7,761.7   7,077.9   8,332.3   13,219.3   13,095.5 

Others  1,042.3   884.5   1,132.6   1,294.1   1,517.0 

Total Liabilities  9,089.5   8,254.4   9,808.6   14,898.3   15,035.4 

Net Assets  14,367.3   15,750.4   17,395.2   18,059.7   21,223.8 

Shareholder’s funds  7,584.2   8,343.6   9,330.1   9,941.3   11,184.1 
Perpetual securities  941.1   941.1   941.1   941.1   1,817.8 
Non-controlling interests  5,842.0   6,465.7   7,124.0   7,177.3   8,221.9 

Total Equity  14,367.3   15,750.4   17,395.2   18,059.7   21,223.8
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Key Highlights – FY16/17

a record PATMI4 of S$1,413.7 million, 

was underpinned by strong recurring 
earnings of S$643.6 million, a year-

S$114.2 million higher than FY15/16. 
In addition, the Group recorded 
increased investment and other gains 
of S$108.0 million and revaluation gain 

Operational PATMI5 of S$1,376.5 million, 
close to 2.4 times that of FY15/16.

presence with the acquisition of 
Green Park, a 79-hectare freehold 
business park in Thames Valley, 

18 May 2016, bringing the assets 

to S$2.5 billion, 47% higher than 
FY15/16. In November 2016, the 
Group made its maiden investment in 
a student accommodation portfolio in 

largest student accommodation 
market – by acquiring seven student 
accommodation assets located 

contributed new leasing income 
streams of S$83.9 million in FY16/17. 

accelerated the Group’s long-term 

the corporate housing / serviced 
apartment business by acquiring 
Oakwood Worldwide, a premier 
global provider of corporate housing / 
serviced apartment solutions. 

headway in Vietnam when it acquired 

serviced apartments and a hotel. The 
hotel and serviced apartments are 
managed by InterContinental Hotels 

Group. In March 2017, the Group 
opened Mapletree Business Centre,  

development, Saigon South Place,  

logistics development projects in 
China, bringing the total GFA from 
1,547,000 sqm to 2,800,000 sqm,  
a y-o-y increase of 81%. More than 
80% of total GFA across 34 projects  
is located in Tier 1 and 2 cities. 

injected into Mapletree Commercial 

consideration of S$1.8 billion. The 
acquisition of MBC I reinforced MCT’s 
position as a leading real estate 

with an asset base of S$6.3 billion 
and was both distribution per unit and 
net asset value per unit accretive to 
MCT. Mapletree also divested three 
logistics properties in Japan to MJLD 
in February 2017 at a consideration  
of S$535 million. The acquisition 
of Joso Centre, Odawara Centre 1 
and 2 by MJLD increased its capital 

P-Trust) was successfully syndicated 
and closed in March 2017. MGSA 
P-Trust holds about S$1.8 billion 
in student accommodation assets 
located in the UK and US, the two 
largest student accommodation 

trust in Singapore to focus on this 
resilient and strong-yielding sector. 

Services Limited launched and priced 
S$625 million principal amount of 4.5% 

Singapore dollar debt capital market 

hybrid issuance of 2017.

6) of 12.8% and return on invested 
7) of 18.7% for FY16/17. 

Performance  
over Five Years

6 for the Group 

average ROIE7 was 11.2%. 

S$11.2 billion as at 31 March 2017. Net 
asset value compounded annual growth 

8) since 31 March 2012 

completed development projects 
enabled recurring core PATMI9 to 

years, from S$279.3 million in FY11/12 
to S$643.6 million in FY16/17. 

5 grew from 
S$1,203.6 million in FY11/12 to 
S$1,376.5 million in FY16/17 on the back 
of higher recurring PATMI4, coupled with 
gains from OIC on divestments.

fees) increased from S$134.3 million in 
FY11/12 to S$277.4 million in FY16/17 at 
a CAGR of 15.6% p.a. 

managed grew by close to 2.0 times 
from S$19.9 billion as at 31 March 2012 
to S$39.5 billion as at 31 March 2017.

AUM in FY16/17. The Group made a 

Asia into the developed economies of 
US, Australia and Europe three years 
ago. These developed economies 
now comprise 14% of Mapletree’s 
total owned and managed real estate 
assets, with total AUM of S$5.6 billion 
as at 31 March 2017.
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In FY16/17, Mapletree achieved total 
revenue of S$2,328.8 million, representing 
a strong y-o-y growth of 24% or a CAGR 

increase is anchored by organic growth 
and new income sources. Leasing 
revenue contribution to total revenue 
remained high at 96% for the year. 

The higher leasing revenue is mainly 
due to new income streams arising 
from acquisitions in Asia and the New 
Markets as well as the continued 
growth of the four Mapletree managed 

 
and Mapletree Greater China Commercial 

new acquisitions of KAP in Vietnam, 
Green Park in the UK and student 
accommodation in the US amounted 

FY16/17. Full-year contributions from 
FY15/16 acquisitions of corporate 
housing / serviced apartment in the US, 

Germany and student accommodation 
in the UK amounted to about S$198.2 
million. New leasing income streams 
from the completion of development 
properties, Mapletree Business City II 

Tsing Yi in Hong Kong SAR contributed 
about S$55.3 million. 

The Group recorded fee income of 
S$78.9 million in FY16/17 compared  
to S$84.5 million in FY15/16 primarily  
due to the incentive fee income of  
S$13.1 million from Mapletree Industrial 

realisation of the fund. 
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 Japan Funds

 Others

Leasing Revenue Y-O-Y Analysis

Fee Income (Including Reit Management Fees) Y-O-Y Analysis 

MLT’s revenue grew y-o-y, mainly driven by 
contributions from accretive acquisitions.

MIT’s improved y-o-y performance  
was driven by higher rental rates 
achieved across all property segments 
as well as revenue contribution from 

development for Hewlett-Packard 

MCT’s revenue rose 5% to S$302.6 million 
for FY16/17 mainly driven by the continued 
healthy performance of VivoCity, 
Mapletree Anson and PSA Building.

MGCCT’s higher revenue was largely 
driven by positive rental uplifts 
from Festival Walk and the full year 
contribution from Sandhill Plaza which 
was acquired in June 2015. 

In addition to the improved performance 
of the REITs, the Group’s same store 
revenue grew y-o-y, primarily attributed 
to the full-year leasing contribution from 
Mapletree Logistics Hub Tsing Yi and 
FY15/16 acquisitions in Australia, Europe 
and US.

Accounting for more than 9% of total 
leasing revenue, revenue from new 
initiatives10 was largely generated 
from acquisitions by MLT, the Group’s 
acquisitions in Vietnam, UK and US, and 
properties which attained temporary 

The management of REITs is a core 
business of the Group and Mapletree 
is one of the largest REIT managers in 
Singapore. Hence, it is meaningful for 
fee income analysis to include REIT 
management fee income in addition  
to fees from its private funds and other 
fee revenue.

Including REIT management fees, fee 
income increased from S$267.2 million 
in FY15/16 to S$277.4 million in FY16/17, 
driven by higher fee contribution from 
three of the Group’s managed REITs – 

 
the reduction in “Others” mainly due to 
S$13.1 million MIF incentive fee income  
in FY15/16. 

Property and development management 
fee increased by S$24.6 million, in line with 
the acquisition activities mainly by MJOF 
and completion of development properties 
mainly from Mapletree China Opportunity 

 
S$12.7 million from MCOF II and MJOF 
due to change in base fee calculation 
from committed to contributed capital. 
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PATMI4 and Operational PATMI5

Despite global economic uncertainty 

the US Federal Reserve’s interest rate 
hike, the Group produced commendable 
results, attaining the highest ever PATMI4 
of S$1,413.7 million for FY16/17. The 

operating performance, new income 
streams, higher corporate restructuring 
surplus and capital uplift. 

Recurring core PATMI9 grew by 23% 
from S$523.6 million in FY15/16 to 
S$643.6 million in FY16/17 driven by the 

recurring earnings. 

Asset revaluation gains2 of S$662.1 million 
was recorded in FY16/17, supported by 
the resilient underlying performance of 
Mapletree’s owned and managed real 
estate assets.

The Group achieved Operational 
PATMI5 of S$1,376.5 million in FY16/17, 
compared to S$583.9 million in FY15/16 
underpinned by stronger broad base 
recurring earnings, as well as gains 
recorded, amongst others, from the 
divestment of MBC I to MCT and the 
divestment of three Japan logistics 
assets to MJLD. 

 Investment & Other Gains   Operational PATMI
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EBIT + SOA1 Y-O-Y Growth Analysis by Business Unit (BU)

The Group recorded higher EBIT + SOA1 
from S$1,326.9 million in FY15/16 to 
S$1,575.1 million in FY16/17. Active lease 
management and cost containment of 
the portfolio, as well as new income 
streams from acquired properties in 
Vietnam, US and the UK contributed to 
the improvement. 

a higher EBIT + SOA1 of S$20.3 million 
over FY15/16 mainly due to the TOP 
of MBC II in April 2016 and higher 
earnings from VivoCity, Mapletree 
Anson and PSA Building.

S$36.3 million, largely attributable to 
MLT with higher leasing revenue from 
newly acquired properties in Australia 
and full year leasing contribution from 
Mapletree Logistics Hub Tsing Yi 
which obtained TOP in March 2016.

increase of S$13.1 million from higher 
MIT earnings attributed to higher rental 
rates achieved across all property 
segments, improved occupancies 
in Hi-Tech Buildings and revenue 
contribution from Phase One of the 
BTS for Hewlett-Packard which 
obtained TOP in October 2016.

EBIT + SOA1 by S$12.9 million mainly 
due to higher fee income from MCOF II 
following the commencement of 
Phase Two construction of Nanhai 
Business City 4 in August 2016, and 
share of lower loss from MCOF II with 

Mapletree Business City Shanghai. 
Higher occupancy and rental rates 
from Arca Building in Beijing also 
contributed to higher earnings.

achieved higher EBIT + SOA1 by 
S$158.0 million primarily attributable 
to full year contributions from FY15/16 
acquisitions, new acquisitions of 
business park in the UK and student 
accommodation in the US, full year 
contribution from Sandhill Plaza 
acquired in FY15/16 and strong rental 
uplift from Festival Walk, Hong Kong 
SAR under MGCCT, and share of 

new acquisitions. 

EBIT + SOA1 of S$17.1 million mainly 
due to new EBIT contribution from 
KAP, but partially negated by the full 
realisation of MIF in FY15/16.
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ROE6 and ROIE7

ROE6 increased from 9.6% in FY15/16 
to 12.8% in FY16/17 mainly attributable 
to higher operating earnings, corporate 
restructuring surplus, disposal gains and 
asset revaluation gains. 

ROE6 for a real estate company includes 
gains or losses from revaluation of 
investment properties in accordance with 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 

operational measurement point of view, 
the Group also considers ROIE7 as  
one of its performance measurement 
matrices. This ratio captures operating 
returns of the Group for the amount 
invested by its shareholder in the 
underlying businesses adjusted for  

investment properties revaluation gains 
and losses, negative goodwill, dilution 
gain or loss and fair value adjustments 

 

The Group delivered strong return to 
its shareholder with a ROIE7 of 18.7% 
in FY16/17, higher than the ROIE7 of 
9.2% in FY15/16. This is driven by 
higher recurring earnings and corporate 
restructuring surplus and share of 
associated companies’ gain on disposal, 
both of which are measured from OIC 
rather than the revalued book value. 
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Total Asset Base and Shareholder’s Funds

Total Asset Base 

Total assets grew from S$32,958 million 
in FY15/16 to S$36,259 million in FY16/17, 
primarily attributed to the acquisition of 
investment properties in Vietnam, US and 
Europe, the completion of MBC II and 18 
Tai Seng in Singapore, and properties 
under construction - Mapletree Bay Point 
in Hong Kong SAR and logistics projects in 
China and Malaysia. 

 Investments in Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

 Others
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Over the years, the Group continued 
to seek quality and yield-accretive 
investment opportunities that deliver 

development projects. Strong underlying 
businesses, increase in real estate 
valuation and capital management 
platforms underpinned returns and 
generated considerable value to the 
Group’s shareholder’s funds over the 
past few years. 

The Group’s PATMI4 of S$1,413.7 million 
in FY16/17 contributed to a 13% increase 
in shareholder’s funds from S$9.9 billion 
for FY15/16 to S$11.2 billion for FY16/17.
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Total Real Estate Asset Base 

Third-party AUM grew by S$5.1 billion 
from S$23.0 billion in FY15/16 to  
S$28.1 billion in FY16/17. The increase 
is mainly driven by the divestment of 
MBC I to MCT in August 2016 and three 
high-yield logistics assets to MJLD in 
February 2017 as well as the successful 
close of MGSA P-Trust in March 2017. 

The Group continued to achieve 

Total owned and managed real estate 
assets increased from S$34.7 billion 
in FY15/16 to S$39.5 billion in FY16/17 
mainly underpinned by acquisitions 
in Vietnam, US, Europe and Australia. 

Development activities mainly in Tier 1 
and 2 cities in China, capital value uplift 
of the REITs’ portfolio and the Group’s 
owned assets including MBC II, which 
obtained TOP in 2016 also contributed to 
the growth in AUM. 

 MIT

 MGCCT

 Third-Party AUM

 China Funds

 Japan Funds
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In line with the Group’s strategy to grow 
new income streams beyond Asia and 
diversify its business in the developed 
markets of US, Australia and Europe, 
North Asia & New Markets BU remained 
the largest BU by AUM, accounting for 
38% of AUM. Singapore Commercial and 
Logistics BU continued to be the second 
and third largest BU by AUM respectively 
since FY15/16. 

   China and India  Logistics  Others 
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To date, the Group owns and 
manages real estate assets across 
12 economies. During the year, the 
Group further boosted its presence 
in the UK, US, Vietnam and Japan, 
mainly in the business park, corporate 
housing / serviced apartment, student 

development sectors. Mapletree’s 
total owned and managed real estate 
assets in the US, Australia and Europe 
account for 14% of the Group’s total 
AUM as compared to 10% a year 
ago. Regardless, Singapore remains 
predominant, with the largest proportion 
of assets at 38%.
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Corporate Liquidity  
& Financial Resources

Financial Market Review
2016 was a volatile year for global 
economy against the backdrop of two 
major geopolitical events - the United 
Kingdom referendum and the United 

as divergent monetary policies among 
central banks causing uncertainity in 

The Singapore economy grew by 2% 
in 2016, comparable to the growth of 
1.9% in 2015. The Ministry of Trade 

grow at a modest pace of 1% to 3% in 
2017. The US Federal Reserve raised 

the last increase in December 2016); 
in view of stable economic growth, 

bank’s target. The US economy is also 
projected to grow at a faster pace in 2017, 

economic policies under the new US 
administration.

In contrast, China’s economy ended 2016 
with 6.7% growth, the slowest in 26 years. 

to around 6.5% as the country continues 
with the rapid structural change from an 
investment to domestic consumption 
driven economy. Markets had also been 
concerned on the impact from tightening of 

monetary policy in China. In the Eurozone, 
growth is likely to remain modest. 

to be undermined by political risks with 
upcoming elections in key Eurozone 
economies. As for Japan, it will likely see 
its economy grow this year on the back 
of the weak yen and government steps to 
stimulate sluggish consumer demand.

Financial Resources  
and Liquidity
During the year, the Mapletree Group 
continues to proactively build a strong 
base of funding resources to support 
its working capital requirements, capital 

This enables Mapletree to capitalise 
on opportunities for growth in Asia and 
beyond. On an ongoing basis, the Group 

as well as overall liquidity position. To 

the Group to meet its commitments, 
scenario analyses including stress tests 
are performed regularly to assess the 
potential impact of market conditions on 

As at 31 March 2017, total cash reserves 
and unutilised banking facilities amounted 
to S$8,408 million.

Financial Capacity S$ million

Cash 1,180

Undrawn Banking Facilities 7,228

Total 8,408

Issue Capacity under  
Euro/Medium Term  
Note Programmes

10,312

The Group taps the capital market from 
time to time, especially for funding in 
longer tenures. In November 2016, 
Mapletree Treasury Services Limited,  
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 

to US$5 billion. In addition, it raised 
S$1,325 million comprising:

 
of 4.50% perpetual securities on  

public Singapore dollar debt capital 

Asian hybrid issuance of 2017.

perpetual securities on 4 May 2017. 
Proceeds are to be used for general 
corporate purposes and to redeem 
the outstanding S$600 million 5.125% 

of 25 July 2017. 

FY15/16

FY16/17

(S$ million)

17,476

15,961
  69% 31%

41%59%

0 4,000 8,000 12,000 16,000 20,000
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Debt and Gearing

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s net 
debt was S$11,765 million compared to 
S$12,147 million as at 31 March 2016. 
Net Debt/Total Equity Ratio decreased to 
0.55 times from 0.67 times a year ago and 
Total Debt/Total Assets Ratio decreased 
to 0.36 times from 0.40 times during the 
same period. The decrease in debt was 
partly due to the receipt of proceeds from 
injection of various assets into its real 
estate capital management platforms.

park components of Mapletree Business 
City I to Mapletree Commercial Trust 

received by MCT unitholders and 
helped Mapletree to recycle capital of 

2017, the Group divested three logistics 

of S$500 million to MJLD. The capital 
recycled was mainly deployed to the 
Group’s new investments and repayment 
of debt. In line with the strategy to 

management platforms, the Group 

accommodation private trust, Mapletree 
Global Student Accommodation Private 

party equity from institutions and private 
bank investors.

 As at 31 
March 2016

S$ million

 As at 31 
March 2017

S$ million

Total Debt¹ 13,174 12,945

Cash 1,027 1,180

Net Debt 12,147 11,765

As at 31 March 2017, about 99% of 
the Group’s debt portfolio was from 
committed banking facilities and medium 
to long-term bond issuance. The balance 
1% was funded by short-term banking 

and/or other activities.

diversify its funding sources and spread 

 
 

3.3 years as at 31 March 2017 compared 
to 3.1 years a year ago. The Group  

(S$ million)

 12,147  11,765 

FY15/16 FY16/17
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 21,224 

0.67
0.55

(S$ million)

FY15/16 FY16/17

0

8,000

16,000

24,000

32,000

40,000

 13,174  12,945 

 32,958  36,259 

0.40
0.36

(S$ million)

7%

24%
20%

FY21/22
& Beyond

FY20/21FY19/20FY18/19FY17/18

Cash
1,180

0

900

1,800

2,700

3,600

4,500
32%

17%

Nebt Debt/Total Equity Total Debt/Total Assets

Fixed vs Float

 
  

 Total Equity2

 Float  Fixed

 Total Debt

 
 Total Assets

77%

23%

FY16/17

63%

37%

FY15/16

2 Comprising shareholder’s funds, perpetual securities and non-controlling interests.
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 Operating Cash Flow
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Corporate Liquidity & Financial Resources

 

Mapletree continues to maintain and 
build active relationships with a wide 
network of banks of various nationalities. 

has enabled the Group to tap on the 

relationship banks to support Mapletree’s 
business strategy and growth globally.

The Group manages its interest cost by 

liability management strategy. Where 
necessary, the Group uses derivative 

77% of the Group’s total gross debt with 

Factors used in determining the interest 

outlook, the investments’ planned holding 

generated from business operations.

In FY16/17, the Group’s interest cover 

 

Asset-Liability Management

Where feasible, the Group adopts a 

 
31 March 2017, the Group has drawn 
foreign currency loans to fund 
investments that are denominated in the 
same currencies. The Group has also 

currencies) to hedge the currency 
 

The respective management companies 
of the REITs have their own Board 
and Board Committees which guide 
and manage their capital and treasury 
positions, including asset-liability 
management, taking into account, 
inter alia, their strategies and returns 
requirements of the unitholders.

Outside of the REITs, the Group seeks to 

closely matching its assets and liabilities 
by currency. The chart shows an analysis 
of the asset-liability breakdown by 

the listed REITs as at 31 March 2017. 

(S$ million)

0

360

720

1,080

1,440

1,800

1,326.9
1,575.1

FY15/16 FY16/17

246.2 331.7

5.4 4.7

 1,388.3
 1,572.7 
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 227.9 
 353.8
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4.4
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Operations Review
Singapore Commercial

Mapletree’s Singapore Commercial 

business unit manages a portfolio 

of real estate assets in Singapore. 

Some of these are held directly by 

the Group while others are held 

under Mapletree Commercial  

Trust (MCT), a Singapore-listed  

real estate investment trust  

(REIT). As at 31 March 2017, the 

business unit owns and manages 

about S$9.6 billion in assets.  

It contributed S$467.5 million  

and S$60.1 million to the Group’s 

EBIT + SOA1 and fee income2 

respectively in FY16/17. 

Assets Held Directly

Mapletree directly holds and manages  
a portfolio of commercial real estate 
assets that include:

 

MBC II, which was completed in 
April 2016, is the latest addition to 
Mapletree’s portfolio of quality assets 

further testament of Mapletree’s ability 
to conceptualise, develop and manage a 
quality portfolio of assets, as well as to 
create a top-notch business community 
which attracts leading global companies,  

 
and Motorola to MBC II.

The generous community space and 
amenities that this distinguished 
development created for its tenants and 

the sporting lifestyle, enhances its appeal 
and the quality of business engagement 
in this community. To complete the 

value chain of curated activities and 
programmes for our tenants, more new 
initiatives will be rolled out as more 
tenants move into the newly completed 
MBC II. These will complement the 
ongoing events which are organised by 
Mapletree, such as futsal matches, arts 
performances, lunchtime health talks, 

The quality of MBC I and its premium 
tenants, comprising established 
government agencies and reputable 
multinational companies, and coupled 
with stability of rental income made it 
an ideal acquisition target for MCT’s 
portfolio. The asset was successfully 
divested at 99% committed occupancy 
in August 2016 to MCT, adding a 
premium asset to MCT’s portfolio.

 
 

reached a key milestone, with the property 
obtaining its Temporary Occupation 

 
for the main building. To meet the 
needs of businesses and the working 
population in the Tai Seng precinct, the 
retail centre commenced operations 
on 21 February 2017 with a committed 
occupancy of 93%. Satisfying 
Singaporeans’ insatiable appetite for 
good food, 18 Tai Seng features three 
one-Michelin-star restaurants – Liao Fan 
Hawker Chan, Japanese Soba Noodles 
Tsuta and Tim Ho Wan, together with a 
host of other popular F&B outlets such 
as Harry’s, Jalan Kayu Prata Café and 
Bakerzin. Other tenants include NTUC 
FairPrice, and Junior Champs, thus 
providing an added convenience for the  
nearby community. With these, 18 Tai Seng 
has successfully injected vibrancy into 
the industrial area, and has become 
a haven for foodies who patronise the 
property located within the 15-hectare 

MBC II houses leading global companies, and is a testament to Mapletree’s strength in 
conceptualising, developing and managing a portfolio of quality assets, as well as creating 
a top-notch business community.
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Paya Lebar iPark for a good meal. 
Construction of a direct underground 
linkway between the development and 

 
2H 2017.

At the HarbourFront Precinct, asset 
enhancement works were completed 
at HarbourFront Centre in August 
2016. Improved modern lift lobbies 

workers, shoppers and tourist with 

Enhancement works to rejuvenate 
the public areas and amenities of 
HarbourFront Towers are underway,  

 
before the end of FY17/18.

Mapletree’s continued focus on 
building sustainability saw 18 Tai Seng 
being awarded the Green Mark Gold 

Construction Authority of Singapore 

PSA Vista completing its BCA Green 
Mark Gold and BCA Green Mark  

Mapletree  
Commercial Trust

 
properties in Singapore:

Since its listing on 27 April 2011, MCT 
has delivered robust returns to investors. 
MCT’s market capitalisation has 
increased from S$1.6 billion at listing 
date to S$4.4 billion as at 31 March 2017. 
Including distributions paid out since 
listing, the total return to unitholders is 
123.7%. For FY16/17, MCT delivered total 
shareholder returns of 14.6%, driven by 
the accretive acquisition of MBC I and 
the continued healthy performance by 
VivoCity, Mapletree Anson and PSAB. 

Its strategic acquisition of MBC I 
in August 2016, is accretive to the 
distribution per unit and net asset value 

without any income support, and will 
strengthen MCT’s long-term resilience. 

an equity 

new investors resulted in the private 
placement being over 3.8 times covered 

 
1.5 times covered, raising a total of  
S$1.04 billion. The successful fund 

Bookbuild at the GlobalCapital Asia 
Regional Capital Markets Awards 2016.

VivoCity continued to outperform amid 
market headwinds and weaker economic 

sales at VivoCity recorded year-on-

respectively. Major leases totalling more 
than 260,000 square feet of net lettable 
area were renewed positively. As at  
31 March 2017, VivoCity maintained a 
high committed occupancy of 99.8%.

In conjunction with VivoCity’s 10th 
Anniversary, a series of advertising and 
promotional activities were organised 
to drive footfall and increase shopper 
spend. A second asset enhancement 

September 2016. Through better use 
of space, the REIT manager was able 
to widen VivoCity’s food and beverage 

would generate an estimated return on 
investment of more than 20%. 

VivoCity won the titles of Best Lifestyle 

for Best Shopping Centre at the AsiaOne 
People’s Choice Awards 2016, and its 
“Star Wars: The Force Awakens” event 

Retail Association. 

As a result of the REIT manager’s 
proactive leasing approach, lease 

of MLHF was completed and a new 

Committed occupancy levels for PSAB 
and Mapletree Anson improved to 98.4% 
and 100% respectively, from 92.8% and 
91.0% a year ago.

VivoCity continued to deliver outstanding 
results in its 10th year of operations. Despite 

tenant sales grew by 4.8% and 1.3% year-
on-year respectively.

Market Review and Outlook 

According to the Ministry of Trade and 
Industry, Singapore’s economy grew 2.7% 
y-o-y in the quarter ending 31 March 
2017, easing from the 2.9% growth in the 

be in the range of 1.0% to 3.0% in 2017.

leasing climate has resulted in prime 
rents in Orchard Road and the suburban 
areas declining 0.3% over the previous 

consecutive quarters of declines in prime 
rents in Orchard Road and the suburban 
areas respectively. With relatively muted 

quarters, vacancies in most submarkets 

1.4% to 1.6% quarter-on-quarter as 
lingering economic concerns on the 
slower growth in Singapore’s service 
sector alongside wider economic 
uncertainty in the region continued  

 
market. However, there are a few 

 
a support level.

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 
 

gains or losses.
2 Including REIT management fees.

References:
i Ministry of Trade and Industry, Singapore
ii CBRE Singapore Market View Q1 2017
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Operations Review
Singapore Industrial

BTS facility for Hewlett-Packard at Depot Close 

The Singapore Industrial business 

unit manages a portfolio of 

industrial properties held by 

the Singapore-listed real estate 

investment trust (REIT), Mapletree 

Industrial Trust (MIT). 

As at 31 March 2017, the business 

unit’s assets under management 

was S$3.7 billion. In FY16/17,  

it contributed S$256.3 million  

to Mapletree’s EBIT1, and  

S$45.8 million to fee income2. 

MIT invests in a large and diverse 

portfolio of 86 industrial properties 

in strategic locations across 

Singapore, including Flatted 

Factories, Hi-Tech Buildings, 

Business Park Buildings, Stack-

up/Ramp-up Buildings and Light 

Industrial Buildings. 

MIT is managed by Mapletree 

Industrial Trust Management Ltd., 

which seeks to provide unitholders 

with sustainable and growing 

returns through proactive asset 

management, value-creating 

investment management and 

prudent capital management.

Achieving  
Sustainable Returns

Despite the challenging business 
environment, MIT delivered another 

revenue and net property income for 
FY16/17 were S$340.6 million and 
S$256.8 million, representing year-on-

respectively. Distributable income for 
FY16/17 was S$205.0 million, up 3.6% 
from S$197.8 million achieved in FY15/16. 

11.39 cents, 2.2% higher than the DPU 
of 11.15 cents for FY15/16. This was 
driven by higher rental rates achieved 
across all property segments with initial 
contribution from Phase One of the build-

MIT’s average portfolio passing rent 
increased y-o-y by 1.6% to S$1.91 per 
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portfolio occupancy decreased to 92.4% 
in FY16/17 from 94.1% in the preceding 

 
MIT achieved a healthy tenant retention 
rate of 71.0% in FY16/17. 

MIT continued to actively diversify 
funding sources with the successful 
issuance of S$100 million 3.16% 7-year 
medium term notes in March 2017. The 
weighted average all-in funding cost 
remained stable around 2.6% in FY16/17. 
About 74.9% of the total debt as at 31 
March 2017 had been hedged to mitigate 

The low aggregate leverage ratio of 
29.2% as at 31 March 2017 will provide 

growth opportunities.

Growing Hi-Tech  
Buildings Segment

The timely completion of Phase One 
of the BTS development for Hewlett-
Packard at 1 Depot Close in October 
2016 marked another milestone in MIT’s 
strategy to grow the Hi-Tech Buildings 
segment. The BTS development 
comprises an 11-storey Hi-Tech Building 

 

Two) with GFA of about 403,500 sq ft. 
Phase Two is on track for completion  
in the second quarter of 2017. The  
S$226 million3 redevelopment project 
includes facilities for manufacturing, 
product and software development 

redevelopment has a total GFA of over 
824,500 sq ft, increasing the utilised  
plot ratio from 1.3 to 2.5.

The purpose-built facility has been 
awarded the Building and Construction 

Platinum Award, the highest accolade 
from BCA for green buildings. 

The lease commitment of 10.5 years from 
Hewlett-Packard helped to increase MIT 
portfolio’s weighted average lease to 

from 2.8 years as at 31 March 2016. 

The S$77 million asset enhancement 

Kallang Basin 4 Cluster is on track for 

Adding about 336,000 sq ft of GFA, 
the AEI will involve the development of 
a new 14-storey Hi-Tech Building and 

in the Kallang Basin 4 Cluster. The AEI 

iPark, which is envisioned to become 
an industrial hub for high-value and 
knowledge-based businesses. 

Extending Track Record  
in BTS Data Centres 

In March 2017, MIT announced that it  
will be developing a BTS data centre  
for an established data centre operator  
at an estimated development cost of  
S$60 million. The proposed facility will  
be located in the West of Singapore. 

with GFA of about 242,000 sq ft will be 
fully leased to the client for an initial 
lease term of more than 10 years with 
staggered rental escalations and renewal 
options. The proposed BTS project is 

half of 2018. 

The proposed site is located in a 
specialised industrial park for data 
centres with ready-built infrastructure 
catered to support multinational 
companies and enterprises. This BTS 
project marks MIT’s third data centre 
development and reinforces MIT’s 
strategy to grow the Hi-Tech Buildings 
segment by providing customised 
industrial real estate solutions.

Market Review and Outlook

According to the Ministry of Trade and 
Industry, the Singapore economy grew 
by 2.7% y-o-y in Q1 2017, easing from 
the 2.9% growth in the previous quarter. 

moderating from the 11.5% growth in 
the previous quarter. Growth was driven 
primarily by the electronics and precision 
engineering clusters. 

The median rental rate for multi-user 
factory space island-wide in Q1 2017 
decreased to S$1.83 psf/mth from 

S$1.88 psf/mth in the preceding year.  
For business park space, the island- 
wide median rent in Q1 2017 decreased 
to S$3.97 psf/mth from S$4.29 psf/mth  
a year ago.

Despite positive data about the 
manufacturing sector in Singapore,  
the business environment remains 
uncertain amid global trade uncertainties 
and rising interest rates. The continued 
supply of competing industrial space and 

rates. MIT will continue to focus on 
tenant retention to maintain a stable 
portfolio occupancy. 

2 Including REIT management fees.
 

at 31 March 2014) prior to commencement  
of redevelopment.

References: 
i Ministry of Trade and Industry, Singapore
ii URA/JTC Realis

An artist’s impression of the BTS data centre  
in the West region of Singapore
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Operations Review
Logistics

The Wodonga Woolworths Regional Distribution Centre is one of the eight Australian properties 
that MLT acquired in FY16/17

The Mapletree Logistics business 

unit manages a portfolio of logistics 

assets held by the Singapore-

listed real estate investment trust, 

Mapletree Logistics Trust (MLT or 

the Trust), as well as development 

projects in China, Hong Kong SAR, 

Japan, Malaysia and Vietnam 

under MLT’s sponsor, Mapletree 

Investments (Mapletree). As at 

31 March 2017, the portfolio of 

the business unit was valued at 

S$7.6 billion. The business unit’s 

EBIT + SOA1 for FY16/17 was 

S$338.8 million and fee income2 

was S$50.7 million.

Mapletree Logistics Trust – 
Strengthening Fundmentals

Against a backdrop of challenging 

Reserve’s interest rate hike, MLT’s 
portfolio showed resilience and continued 
to deliver stable returns in FY16/17. 

The Trust’s performance was 
underpinned by a stabilisation in 
performance of single-user assets 
that were converted to multi-tenanted 
buildings in previous years, contributions 
from asset enhancement initiatives and 
yield-accretive acquisitions. This was 
complemented by management’s focus 
on active asset management strategies 
to achieve high tenant retention and 

contributed to stable portfolio occupancy 
of 96.3% and weighted average lease 

Amidst a lacklustre economic 
environment, gross revenue and 

S$373.1 million and S$312.2 million 
respectively, representing a year-on-
year growth of 6.6% and 7.3%. The 
amount distributable to unitholders rose 

completed yield-accretive acquisitions in 
Australia, Malaysia and Vietnam totalling 

MLT strengthened its presence in 
Sydney, Australia, with the A$85 million 

assets in August 2016. Fully leased 
to established local enterprises from 
diverse industries, the assets have a 
WALE of 5.5 years as well as an initial 
NPI yield of 7.1% with annual escalations.
In December, the Trust strengthened its 
foothold in Australia further by acquiring 
a portfolio of four properties in Victoria 

All four assets, three in Melbourne 
and one in Wodonga, are fully leased 
to established Australian companies 
and multinational corporations with 
an initial NPI yield of 7.6% and annual 
rent escalations. 

In Malaysia, MLT acquired Mapletree 
Shah Alam Logistics Park from 
its Sponsor for MYR160 million 

sought-after logistics area of Shah Alam, 

1.5% to S$186.1 million while distribution 
per unit gained 0.8% to 7.44 cents.

performance in some countries such 
as Singapore and South Korea was 
mitigated by strong performance in 
other markets like Hong Kong SAR 
and Australia. 

MLT continues to maintain a prudent 
and disciplined approach on the capital 
management front. During the year, 
MLT’s balance sheet was strengthened 
with the issuance of S$250 million 
perpetual securities. Aggregate leverage 
was 38.5% while the average weighted 
debt duration was 3.9 years at end 
of FY16/17.

Growing Presence in 
High Growth Markets

In line with its strategy to scale up 
presence in high growth markets, MLT 
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the asset is fully leased to international 
third-party logistics service providers 
and enjoys an initial NPI yield of 7.5% 
and built-in annual escalations. 

in Vietnam with the acquisition of 
a third asset in the country. The 
purchase of Mapletree Logistics Park 
Binh Duong Phase 2 from its Sponsor 

took place in September 2016. This is 
MLT’s second asset in Binh Duong, a 
manufacturing hub, and is ideally suited 

NPI yield of 9.9% with built-in annual 
escalations, the property is fully leased, 
mostly to international companies.

Unlocking Value for 
Organic Growth

As part of its strategy to unlock 

redevelopment, MLT embarked on  
its third redevelopment project in 
Singapore at 76 Pioneer Road in August 
2015. On track for completion by Q3 
FY17/18, when completed, the property 

At an estimated total development 
cost of S$100 million, the project will 

thereby realising untapped potential and 
enhancing the yield of the asset. 

In China, MLT will commence the 
redevelopment of Ouluo Logistics  
Centre in FY17/18. Redevelopment of  
the property into a modern two-storey 
ramp-up logistics facility will be carried 
out in two phases. At an estimated  
cost of S$70 million, the redevelopment 
will increase the GFA by 2.4 times to 
80,700 sqm, improving both the value 
and competitive positioning of the asset.

Logistics Development – 
Scaling Up In Asia

In FY16/17, Mapletree secured 10 new 
logistics development projects in China, 
with a combined GFA of 852,000 sqm. 
These projects are located in fast-

growing cities such as Tianjin, Chongqing 
and Chengdu. 

During the year, Mapletree completed  
10 development projects in China and 
one in Vietnam, with a combined GFA  
of 745,000 sqm. 

This brings the total number of 
Mapletree’s logistics developments in 
China, Hong Kong SAR, Japan, Malaysia 
and Vietnam to 39, with a combined  

 
Of these, 19 are currently under 
construction. When completed and 
stabilised, and in the event the Sponsor 
divests these properties, they will be 

Market Review and Outlook

Recent economic data suggest a 
pickup in growth momentum in the 
Asian economies, with the International 
Monetary Fund projecting Asia to grow  
at a faster rate of 5.5% in 2017, compared 
to 5.3% in 2016. However, growth 
prospects for the region continue to be 
clouded by geopolitical tensions and 
trade uncertainties, as well as increasing 

Nevertheless, demand for logistics 

in most markets where MLT operates, 
underpinned by rising domestic 
consumption, the modernisation of 

supply chains and the rapid growth of 
e-commerce. In some markets with 

warehouse space, such as Singapore 
and certain sub-markets in China, 
supply-side pressure will likely continue 
to weigh on rental rates and occupancy 
in the short term. However, other markets 
such as Hong Kong SAR, Australia 

to perform well, supported by healthy 
supply-demand dynamics. 

Mapletree will continue with its strategy 

developments, especially in markets 
where quality logistics facilities are 
limited. Concurrently, it will focus on asset 
enhancements to drive organic growth and 
yield-accretive acquisitions to strengthen 
the portfolio. This will be accompanied 
by disciplined capital management to 
mitigate the impact of interest rate and 

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 

or losses.
2 Including REIT management fees.

Reference:
i  International Monetary Fund, World Economic 

Outlook, April 2017

An artist’s impression of the redevelopment project at 76 Pioneer Road, due to be completed 
by Q3 FY17/18
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Operations Review
China and India

Mapletree Business City Shanghai and VivoCity Shanghai, China

Mapletree’s China and India 

business units seek to capitalise 

on real estate opportunities 

in these two large emerging 

economies. The business units 

develop and manage real estate 

assets in China and India, and 

oversee two private real estate 

funds, namely Mapletree India 

China Fund (MIC Fund) and 

Mapletree China Opportunity Fund 

II (MCOF II). As at 31 March 2017, 

the business units account for 

S$2.7 billion of the Group’s total 

assets under management (AUM). 

Its EBIT + SOA1 and fee income 

contributions were S$46.4 million 

and S$54.2 million respectively 

in FY16/17. 

China

Located at the heart of southwest 
Shanghai’s emerging Xinzhuang Central 
Business District, the construction of 

and VivoCity Shanghai continued in 

seven blocks, catering to the rising 

both multinational corporations and large 
domestic companies. Phase 1 of the 

of MBC Shanghai, obtained temporary 
occupation permit in October 2016. In 

blocks comprising 35,000 sqm of gross 

Phase 2 – VivoCity Shanghai, a retail mall 
with total GFA of 120,000 sqm located 
adjacent to MBC Shanghai, was opened 

buildings of MBC Shanghai is scheduled 
to complete by end of 2017. 

Construction of Mapletree Ningbo 

continued in FY16/17, with pre-sales for 

buildings underway. Scheduled for 
completion in 2019, the development 
spans about 200,000 sqm and comprises 
a total of 13 residential blocks, a retail 
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mall, street shops and a 25,000 sqm 
standalone medical centre.

In Foshan’s Nanhai district, sales of the 

progressed further, with close to 100% 
of the 1,366 units sold by 31 March 2017. 
The second phase of the residential 
development will be eligible for pre-sales 
in the second half of 2017. The NBC 
4 development is well complemented 
with shophouses and community 
amenities, as well as the South China 
Singapore City International Education 

by Singapore’s Minister of State for 
Manpower, this education zone spanning 
40,000 sqm is home to South China 

International, Crestar Education Group, 
National University of Singapore 
Business School and Guangdong 
University of Foreign Studies.

In March 2017, Mapletree successfully 
divested Silver Court in Shanghai. The 

324 units of serviced apartments. 

India

addition to a fully leased building of 
25,700 sqm, GTP consists of 147,260 
sqm of ready-build and build-to-suit 
IT space developed over two phases. 

has been completed and has achieved 
100% occupancy with tenants from 
leading global IT and Research and 

which are NASDAQ-listed. The security 
infrastructure, which is one of the top 
priorities for most tenants, is undergoing 
further upgrading and will feature many 

Construction of the second phase is on 

by December 2017. Comprising two 

completed, it will also cater to companies 

prime Outer Ring Road of Bangalore. 

An artist’s impression of Global Technology Park Phase 2 in India, due to be completed in December 2017

Market Review and Outlook

China
China’s gross domestic product grew 
6.7% in 2016, the weakest pace in  
26 years but still within the government’s 
target range of 6.5%-7.0%. Real estate 
transaction volumes hit a record high  
of RMB209 billion in 2016, up 52%  
year-on-year. Domestic investors 
accounted for more than 86% of 
transactions. The market was largely 

with government controls on capital 

estate faced yield compression though  
it still outperformed other asset classes 
on a risk-adjusted basis.

volatility in the residential market. De-
stocking and credit growth spurred the 

were overtaken by tightened property 
purchases and stricter credit controls 
in the fourth quarter as the government 

speculative demand, the impact on 
second-tier cities was more pronounced.

The government announced in March 
2017 that it intends to continue with its 
prudent monetary policy. With liquidity 
tightening, 2017 will probably see an 
adjustment, with the average selling price 
holding steady and a lower sales volume 
in the residential sector. Commercial 
properties, on the other hand, will likely 
continue to be sought after as a bond-
like investment alternative.

Despite the challenging investment 
climate, Mapletree is committed to 
scale up its presence in China when 
appropriate opportunities present 

India
India remains one of the fastest growing 
major economies in the world. The 

in the quarter ended September 2016 
compared to 7.1% in the previous 
quarter. The World Bank has adjusted 
India’s growth forecast downwards from 

demonetisation of large denomination 
currency notes. However, its long-term 
projection remains unchanged. 

in December against 3.63% a month 

Meanwhile, India’s current account 
 

of gross domestic product in the third 
quarter, up slightly from 0.3% in the 
previous quarter. 

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 
 

gains or losses.

References:
i  JLL 2016 China Property Investment Market Review

Market Intelligence for Main Cities in China 2016
iii  World Bank Group, Global Economic  

Prospects, January 2017: Weak Investment  
in Uncertain Times

iv  Ministry of Statistics and Programme 
Implementation, India
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Operations Review
North Asia & New Markets

Green Park, a 79-hectare business park in Reading and Mapletree’s largest investment in the UK

The North Asia & New Markets 

business unit focuses on 

deepening Mapletree’s business 

in Hong Kong SAR and Japan and 

expanding into new markets such 

as the United States (US), Australia 

and Europe – specifically Germany 

and the United Kingdom (UK).  

It also explores opportunities  

in new real estate asset classes  

in these countries.

The business unit includes 

Mapletree Greater China 

Commercial Trust (MGCCT), 

two Japan-focused private 

equity funds, MJOF and MJLD, 

and a fund comprising student 

accommodation assets in the 

US and the UK, Mapletree Global 

Student Accommodation Private 

Trust (MGSA P-Trust).

With owned and managed assets  

of S$14.5 billion as at 31 March 2017,  

the business unit contributed 

S$530.7 million to the Group’s  

EBIT + SOA1 , and S$65.9 million in 

fee income2 in FY16/17.

New Markets

In March 2017, Mapletree successfully 

trust in Singapore with a global student 
accommodation portfolio within  
a three-month period. Comprising  
35 student accommodation assets  
of over 14,000 beds located in the  
UK and the US, the fundraising was  
well-received by investors consisting  
of reputable institutional investors as  
well as high net worth individuals from 
private banks. Proceeds from MGSA 
P-Trust will be used to pursue new 
growth opportunities. 

acquired Green Park, a 79-ha freehold 
business park in Reading, the UK. 

 

with the potential to add 880,000 sq 
ft of NLA if fully developed. Mapletree 
also acquired The Gateway, a 519-bed 
student accommodation property in 
Lincoln. The property is one of the 25  
UK student accommodation assets in  
the MGSA P-Trust. 

The US
In November 2016, Mapletree had 
acquired seven student accommodation 
properties3 with close to 6,000 beds 

formed part of the syndication for  
MGSA P-Trust. 

In February 2017, Mapletree acquired 
 

Australia

Australia were fully leased as at 31 March 

the buildings enjoy strategic locations 
in Sydney, Perth and Brisbane. Also 
in Brisbane, Mapletree owns a 162-
unit serviced apartment managed by 

Europe

referendum in June 2016, the Group’s 
commercial properties in the UK, 

London, Manchester, Aberdeen and 

business park in Reading, continued to 
see healthy leasing activity, with 94% 
occupancy as at 31 March 2017. The 

also continues to be fully let.
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of its long-term strategy to strengthen 
its corporate housing / serviced 
apartment business in the US, Europe 

collaboration in 2014 which saw Mapletree 
acquire a 49% stake in Oakwood’s Asia 

North Asia

MGCCT 
MGCCT reported a stable distribution 
per unit of 7.34 cents4 paid to unitholders 
for FY16/17, compared with 7.27 cents for 
FY15/16 despite the challenging business 
environment in Hong Kong SAR and 
China. This was mainly due to increased 
rental income from Festival Walk and 

As a result of the REIT manager’s 
proactive portfolio management, a high 
portfolio occupancy rate of 98.6% was 
achieved as of 31 March 2017. Festival 

in FY16/17 were renewed or re-let at 
an average rental reversion of 12% 
while the leases at Gateway Plaza and 
Sandhill Plaza recorded rental reversions 
averaging 10% and 16% respectively. 

Hong Kong SAR
Construction of Mapletree Bay Point,  

 
East is on track for completion in the  
later part of 2017. Pre-leasing activities 
have commenced. 

Japan
Located in Greater Tokyo and Yokohama 
areas, the nine properties under the 

enjoyed a high occupancy of 95% as at 
31 March 2017. MJOF will continue to 
seek investment opportunities around 
the fringe of Tokyo CBD as well as in 
Greater Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya.

Meanwhile, MJLD, a logistics 
development fund, has invested in four 
logistics facilities at a development cost 

the year, bringing the total number of 
assets under MJLD to 11. Of the 11 

Osaka Prefecture and Ashikaga II in 

13th & Olive in Eugene, Oregon, one of the US 
student housing properties under MGSA P-Trust

Tochigi Prefecture) were completed 
during the year. We have secured several 
major third party logistics service 
providers as tenants. 

Meanwhile, the Group’s 48-unit serviced 
apartment building in Azabudai, Tokyo, 
was completed in March 2017 and is 

Another 175-unit serviced apartment 
asset in Yokohama is under construction 

 
early 2020. 

In Namba, Osaka the retail project with 
an NLA of about 20,000 sqm broke 
ground in March 2017. Upon completion 
in 2019, it will be leased on a long  
term basis to one of Japan’s largest 
electronic retailers.

Market Review and Outlook

Australia
Australia economy continued to grow 
in 2016 as the economy transitions to 
broader-based growth that is led by an 
increase in investment in non-resource 
sector, resulting in the economy grew 
by 2.4%. Looking ahead, the lower 
Australian dollar will boost the tourism 
and education sectors, which will bring 
positive impact on the property sector. 

The US
The US economy grew at 2.1% in 2016 
with strong economic fundamentals and 
a pro-growth administration should keep 
property markets robust in 2017 and 2018. 

Europe
The UK economy grew by 1.8% in 

to continue growth stimulus through 
monetary policy. In Germany, GDP 
grew by 1.9% for 2016. Germany’s GDP 
growth is likely to remain robust through 
2017, driven by higher private and 
government spending. Economic growth 
for the Euro zone is projected to remain 
low and stabilise at above 1.5% in the 

Greater China 
China’s economy grew by 6.9% in Q1 

by continued policy stimulus. With the 
stable economic outlook, demand for 

by 1.9% in 2016, and is projected to grow 
by up to 3% in 2017. Retail spending by 

resilient in 2017, supported by a healthy 
employment market and steady wage 

Kowloon East. 

Japan
Real GDP growth grew by 1.0% in 2016. 
Moderate economic recovery in Japan 

most heavily transacted sector as it once 
again saw both the greatest volume 
and the highest number of, transactions 

demand for logistics space continues to 
grow, driven by e-commerce and third 
party logistics service providers. 

revaluation, SOA gains or losses relating to 

or losses inclusive of Oakwood Worldwide.
2 Including REIT management fees.
3  As of 31 March 2017, Mapletree is in the 

process of acquiring additional three student 

at Knollwood in Kalamazoo, Michigan; Cottages 
of Boone in Boone, North Carolina and Coronado 
Place and Towers in St. Louis, Missouri). These 
will add another 2,000 beds.

the number of issued units as at the end of the 
respective half-year periods. The full-year DPU, 
as shown in the full-year results announcements 

calculated based on the income available for 
distribution for the year over the number of issued 
units as at the end of the year.

References:

 

iii  The Government of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region, “Economic Outlook for 
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Operations Review
South East Asia

Kumho Asiana Plaza, acquired in June 2016

The South East Asia business unit 

(SEA) focuses on investing in well-

located developments and income-

yielding investment properties 

in the region outside Singapore, 

with the aim of building scalable 

capital management platforms that 

generate sustainable returns. 

It holds the Group’s investments 

in the retail, office, serviced 

apartments, residential, industrial, 

and mixed-use developments 

in Vietnam and Malaysia. 

Vietnam

In June 2016, Mapletree acquired  
Kumho Asiana Plaza in District 1,  

 

serviced apartment tower, 21-storey 
hotel, and a retail podium with food  

Mapletree’s largest acquisition in 
Vietnam to date for a completed, 
income-producing property.

The business unit’s portfolio 

also includes the provision of 

mezzanine financing to real 

estate developers. Mapletree 

is on the lookout for investment 

opportunities in other markets  

such as Indonesia.

In FY16/17, the Group’s investments 

in SEA contributed S$51.8 million 

to Mapletree’s EBIT + SOA1. It owns 

and manages S$1,253.6 million in 

assets as at 31 March 2017. 
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anniversary in September 2016. As  
 

a 4.4 hectare mixed-use development  
 

 

both international and local tenants. 

commercial towers in the precinct.

 
 

a retail podium in HCMC. Mapletree 

Malaysia

Mapletree provides mezzanine loan 

The small but well-planned units were 

Market Review and Outlook

Vietnam

subdued commodity prices and adverse 

 

maintained a healthy occupancy rate 

Malaysia

 

 
 

is provided. Activity in the residential 

 

References:
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Investment Activities  
& Fund Management

Mapletree’s capital management 

business focuses on the 

management of public-listed real 

estate investment trusts (REITs) 

and private real estate funds. 

Through a wide array of investment 

platforms, the Group offers real 

estate investment opportunities 

across diversified asset classes 

to meet different needs and risk 

profiles of both institutional and 

retail investors.

Mapletree has built up a wealth of 

management market. The Group has 

managed or been managing 13 capital 
management vehicles on behalf of many 
of the world’s top institutional investors 
including sovereign wealth funds, pension 
funds, insurance companies and private 
investors. Our real estate portfolio 

geographical-focused and sector-
focused portfolios across the public  
and private real estate markets.

The Group has built a strong reputation 
as an industry leader in the Singapore 
REIT market and private fund 
management business with origination, 
structuring and fundraising capabilities. 
Currently, Mapletree manages four 

funds with combined funds under 
management of over S$17 billion. In the 
last decade, Mapletree has grown its 

more than seven times. 

As at 31 March 2017, Mapletree had  
AUM of S$39.5 billion, 71% of which 
are third-party managed assets. In line 
with our business objective to deliver 
consistent and high returns, Mapletree 
constantly seeks new opportunities 
to launch new capital management 
platforms and focuses on building lasting 
relationships with its capital partners 
by leveraging its strong pipeline and 
performance of real estate assets.

Five-Year Growth in Third-Party AUM & Funds Under Management

  Funds Under Management 

 Third-Party AUM

FY12/13 FY15/16FY14/15FY13/14 FY16/17

(S$ million)

17,88016,744

12,667

15,258 15,569

0
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12,000

18,000

24,000

30,000

18,224
20,562

22,972

10,121

28,111
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Active Acquisitions of 
Mapletree Private Funds

During the year, the private real estate 
funds managed by Mapletree have 
been actively acquiring and deploying 
commitments. In March 2016, MJLD, 
a Japan-focused logistics development 
fund, acquired a logistics development 
asset in Kobe City in Greater Osaka at 
an estimated total development cost 

This is in addition to three other logistics 
development assets which MJLD 
invested in during the year.

These four acquisitions are in line with 
MJLD’s fund objective of investing in 
high quality logistics assets to generate 
an attractive total return for investors. 
To date, MJLD has invested in 11 
logistics assets and will continue to 
seek investment opportunities in good 
quality logistics assets in Japan. In 
addition to MJLD and MGSA P-Trust, 
Mapletree manages four other funds – a 

Mapletree China Opportunity Fund II 

Delivering Stable Returns 
Backed by Strong Sponsor 

As Mapletree continues to syndicate 
new private funds to meet investors’ 
needs, it is mindful to deliver strong and 
sustainable returns to investors, including 
via its listed platforms. Strengthening the 
Group’s capital management capability 
is an important strategy to its business 
model. The Group’s four REITs have 
performed strongly, having reported 
credible earnings and consistently 
delivered strong returns to its investors 
since their respective initial public 

quality of Mapletree’s REITs and their 
portfolios, as well as Mapletree as 
a committed and strong sponsor. 

The Group’s four Singapore-listed REITs, 
Mapletree Greater China Commercial 
Trust, Mapletree Commercial Trust, 
Mapletree Industrial Trust and Mapletree 
Logistics Trust, performed strongly, 
achieving an annual distribution per 
unit yield of between 6.1% and 7.2% 
in FY16/17.

Establishing Strategic 
Partnerships for New 
Asset Classes

In the past three years, Mapletree has 
invested in new asset classes such as 
student accommodation, corporate 
housing / serviced apartment. To grow its 
corporate housing / serviced apartment 
business further, Mapletree acquired 

premier global provider of corporate 
housing / serviced apartment solutions 
in February 2017. The acquisition covers 
all of Oakwood’s global operations 
and follows an earlier collaboration in 
2014 which saw the company acquire 

corporate housing property in the US 
during the year. 

As at 31 March 2017, Mapletree owns 
nine corporate housing / serviced 
apartment properties in the US and 
one corporate housing / serviced 
apartment in Australia. In addition to 
these, Mapletree has two corporate 
housing / serviced apartment properties 
in Japan and one more in Vietnam under 
development. All Mapletree-owned 
service apartments are managed by 
Oakwood, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Mapletree.

For MGSA P-Trust, Mapletree has 
partnered leading local operator 

to manage the fund’s portfolio of 
student accommodation assets. 

To achieve an optimal capital structure, 
the Group will continue to grow its capital 
management business by bringing 
new private funds and REITs to market. 
However, while doing so, it remains 
mindful to align the development of 
current and new products with investors’ 
evolving investment requirements. 

Accolades

In September 2016, Mapletree was 

Manager Guide and second among 
Asia-based fund managers according 
to PERE magazine, a leading publication 
for the world’s private real estate 
markets. The ranking is based on 

private real estate investment vehicles 
between January 2011 and March 2016. 
Prior to this, Mapletree was ranked 
eighth in the 2014/2015 APAC Fund 

based fund managers. 

Successfully 
Raised New Private 
Fund – Mapletree 
Global Student 
Accommodation Private 
Trust (MGSA P-Trust) 

Following the successful launch of 
MJOF and MJLD in 2014, the Group 

private funds in FY16/17 with a 
global student accommodation 
private trust which raised a total of 

capital commitments. Despite the 
competitive fundraising environment, 
the private trust attracted strong 
investor support from institutional 
investors and high net worth 
individuals from private banks. 
MGSA P-Trust aims to generate 

income yields with an attractive 
total return by investing in income-
generating student accommodation 
assets in the United Kingdom and 



Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd | Annual Report 2016/201764

Name  
of Fund/
REIT

Brief  
Description

Launch/
Listing  
Date

Investment 
Universe

Investment 
Focus

Fund 
Life 
(Years)

Fund Size/  
NAV1

Private Funds – Existing

MGSA 
P-Trust

Established with the objective 
to invest in an attractive and 
resilient income-producing 
student accommodation 
portfolio in the UK and the US.

2017 The UK  
& the US

Student 
Accommodation 

5 US$535 million 

MJOF Established with the objective 
of generating a stable and 
recurring income yield with 
an attractive total return, by 
investing predominantly in 

located primarily on or around 
the fringe of Tokyo CBD and 
within the Greater Tokyo area.

2014 Japan 5 JPY65 billion

MJLD Established with the objective 
of generating attractive total 
returns by investing in logistics 
development assets in Japan.

2014 Japan Logistics 5 JPY51 billion

Mapletree 
China 
Opportunity 
Fund II 

Established with the objective 

by investing in a portfolio of 
development projects and 
projects with value enhancement 
potential located in Tier 1 and 
Tier 2 cities in China.

2013 China Commercial, 
Industrial, 
Residential  

9 US$1,400 million

Mapletree 
India China 
Fund

Established with the objective 

by acquiring, developing and 
realising real estate projects  
in India and China.

2008 India  
& China

Commercial  10 US$1,158 million

CIMB-
Mapletree 
Real Estate 
Fund 1 

Established to make direct 
investments in development 
and/or investment assets,  
real estate investment products 
and listed real estate securities 
in Malaysia.

2005 Malaysia Commercial  
& Residential

12 MYR402 million
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Name  
of Fund/
REIT

Brief Description Launch/
Listing  
Date

Investment 
Universe

Investment 
Focus

Fund 
Life 
(Years)

Fund Size/  
NAV1

Private Funds – Fully realised

Mapletree 
Industrial 
Fund 

Established with the objective of 
investing in industrial properties  
in Asia for yield and appreciation.

multiple and net IRR2 of 15.1%. 

2006 Pan Asia Industrial Realised US$299 million

Mapletree 
Industrial 
Trust – 
Private 

Held the S$1.71 billion of 
industrial assets acquired  
from JTC in 2008.

multiple and net IRR2 of 19.1%. 

2008 Singapore Industrial Realised S$708 million

Mapletree 
Real Estate 
Mezzanine 
Fund

Focused on originating and 

loans in Asia.

Fully realised in FY07/08 and 
 

net IRR2 of 25.3%. 

2005 Pan Asia All Realised S$90 million

Public Listed – REITs

Mapletree 
Greater 
China 
Commercial 
Trust 

portfolio of income-producing 
commercial real estate in  
Greater China3.

2013 Greater 
China

Commercial S$3,636 million

Mapletree 
Commercial 
Trust 

REIT investing on a long-term 
 
 

in Singapore.

2011 Singapore Commercial S$3,957 million

Mapletree 
Industrial 
Trust 

portfolio of income-producing 
properties used for industrial 
purposes in Singapore.

2010 Singapore Industrial S$2,533 million

Mapletree 
Logistics 
Trust 

logistics REIT in Singapore, 
with the principal strategy of 

of income-producing logistics 
real estate and real estate related 

2005 Logistics S$2,588 million

1 Total fund size for private funds; NAV attributable to unitholders for listed REITs as at 31 March 2017.

Foshan, Hangzhou, Nanjing, Suzhou, Tianjin, Wuhan and Xi’an).
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Sustainability 
Report

As a leading real estate 

development, investment and 

capital management company 

headquartered in Singapore, 

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd 

(Mapletree) is pleased to present 

its inaugural Sustainability Report 

(SR) for the period from 1 April 2016 

to 31 March 2017 (FY16/17). 

Environmental, social and 

governance (ESG) aspects are 

widely recognised by businesses 

and increasingly important to the 

stakeholders, therefore Mapletree 

strives to manage the material ESG 

factors relevant to its operations 

to ensure the long-term resilience 

of its business while protecting the 

environment and upholding social 

well-being. 

About this Report 

This report contains information 
on the environmental, social and 
governance practices across the Group1. 
Environmental data disclosed in this report 
relates to properties within Mapletree’s 
non-listed portfolio in Singapore. The four 

have published their own Sustainability 
Reports as part of their respective 
Annual Reports. Mapletree will publish its 
Sustainability Report on an annual basis. 

This report addresses some of the 
requirements prescribed by the 

Rules – Sustainability Reporting Guide, 
and makes reference to the Global 

global best practice guides for reporting 
on a range of economic, environmental, 
social and governance factors. 

Sustainability Governance 

Mapletree’s sustainability management 
comes under the purview of its 

which is co-led by the Deputy Group 

Group Corporate Services and Group 
General Counsel. The SSC includes the 

the REIT managers and other members 
of the Group’s Senior Management 
team. The SSC develops sustainability 
strategies and manages overall 
sustainability performance. 

The SSC is supported by the 

which comprises senior management 
representatives across business units 
and functions. The SWC implements, 

procedures within the sustainability 
framework across the organisation. 

updated on the key material factors 

sustainability management performance 
of Mapletree.

Materiality Assessment 

A formal group-wide materiality 

in FY16/17, which took reference from 

Principle. The assessment, facilitated 
by an independent sustainability 
consultant, comprised a three-step 
process to identify, prioritise and validate 
ESG factors. Key internal stakeholders, 

including the SWC, responded to an online 
survey to identify stakeholders’ concerns 

SWC then participated in a workshop to 

was a validation session with the SSC. 

During the materiality assessment, 
factors such as industry best practices, 
global and local emerging trends,  

within the Group’s Enterprise Risk 

considered. A list of eight sustainability 

the Mapletree Board in FY16/17. 

1 Group refers to Mapletree and its subsidiaries.
2  Refer to the Financial Review and Financial 

Statements sections for more details.

Corporate Governance and Risk Management 
sections for more details.

Material factors 

Economic 1.  Economic 
performance2

Environment 2. Energy
3. Water

Social 4. Health and safety 
5. Talent retention
6. Local communities

Governance 7. Anti-corruption3

8.   Compliance with 
laws and regulations3
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Environment –  
Sustainable Buildings

The Group is committed to minimising 
the environmental impact of its business 
operations and does so through various 

The Building and Construction Authority 

to spearhead measures to meet the 
national target of having at least 80% 
of the buildings in Singapore meet its 
environmental sustainability standards 
by 2030.

Systems have been implemented to 
measure and track environmental 
performance across all properties 
in Singapore which Mapletree has 
operational control over. The Property 
Management department monitors the 
monthly utilities consumption of the 
properties to identify opportunities to 

The Group establishes environmentally 
friendly practices for the planning, 
design, construction and operation of 

of the Group’s properties in Singapore 
had been accorded the BCA Green Mark 
Platinum Awards, the highest accolade 
for green buildings. 

ongoing “Mapletree Goes Green” initiative 
seeks to encourage employees to adopt 

water bottles and printing on both sides 
of paper. Mapletree also participates in 
environmental sustainability awareness 
programmes, such as annual Earth Day 
and Earth Hour events. Going forward, 
Mapletree will continue to improve energy 
and water conservation.

In addition, the Group’s projects in 
Asia have received four Leadership in 

an internationally well-regarded green 

recognises best-in-class building 
strategies and practices.

Property Country BCA Green  
Mark Award

Singapore Platinum

Singapore Platinum

Singapore Platinum

Singapore Platinum

Build-to-suit project for Singapore Platinum

Singapore BCA-IDA Platinum

Singapore GoldPLUS

Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Bank of America Merrill Lynch Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Singapore Gold

Property Country LEED Award

Tata Communications Singapore LEED Gold

Singapore LEED Gold

Mapletree Logistics Hub Hong Kong SAR LEED Gold

Global Technology Park India
Building Council)

Mapletree Business City II Singapore

Mapletree Bay Point Hong Kong SAR

Global Technology Park India

Mapletree Business City China

China
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to minimise environmental impact

Energy 
Energy use and its associated greenhouse 

 
global warming. At Mapletree, we use 
electricity for property management  
and operations, such as for lighting,  
air conditioning and elevators. 
 
Mapletree also submits building-related 
information and energy consumption data 

to the BCA annually. The information is 
compiled in the BCA Building Energy 
Benchmarking Report to spur building 
owners and managers towards improving 

to incorporate green practices into its 
property management operations. For 

and motion sensors to reduce electricity 

in commercial buildings in Singapore 
are vetted by Mapletree to ensure they 

24.505

24.510

24.515

24.520

24.525

24.530

Building Electricity 
Consumption (million kWh)4

 FY15/16   

73.36

73.38

73.40

73.42

73.44

Average Building Electricity 
Intensity (kWh/m2)

 FY15/16   

12,735

12,740

12,745

12,750

12,755

GHG Emissions (tCO2e)

 FY15/16   

comply with the building’s lighting power 

with BCA Green Mark requirements.

’s Singapore 
Commercial business unit to conserve 
energy in the past years have resulted  
in the current portfolio achieving  
a steady state in the landlord’s  
energy consumption. In FY16/17,  

4 in Singapore held 
directly by Mapletree reported a total 
energy consumption of 24.512 million 

controllable areas, an improvement 
from 24.524 million kWh in FY15/16. 
Correspondingly, average building 
energy intensity improved by 0.05% from 
73.43 kilowatt hours per square metre 

2) in FY15/16 to 73.39 kWh/m2 in 
FY16/17. The total GHG emissions from 

FY16/17 was 12,746 tonnes of carbon 
2e), a 0.05% 

decrease from 12,753 tCO2e in FY15/16.
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4  Environmental performance data included 
in this SR consists of HarbourFront Centre, 
HarbourFront Towers One and Two, PSA Vista, 
Tanjong Pagar Distripark and Pasir Panjang 
Distripark in Singapore which Mapletree owns 
100% stake and has operational control. 
Mapletree Business City I and II as well as 18 

comparison – MBC I was divested to Mapletree 

MBC II was only completed in April 2016. 18 Tai 
Seng became operational in February 2017.

5  Environmental performance data included 
in this SR consists of HarbourFront Centre, 
HarbourFront Towers One and Two, PSA Vista, 
Tanjong Pagar Distripark and Pasir Panjang 
Distripark in Singapore.

Water 
Water is fundamental to the Group’s 
business operations, as it is used by 
tenants, suppliers and visitors at the 
properties. To this end, the Group 
strives to conserve water while 
providing reliable and stable water 
sources to its stakeholders.

The Group aims to reduce total water 
consumption and overall water intensity 
at its properties. In addition to tracking 
consumption, Mapletree also submits 
annual water consumption data of its 
commercial buildings to the Public 

of the requirements under the Water 

Across the Group, there are several 
water-saving features being introduced 
in the design and development of the 
buildings. At Mapletree, where possible, 

with proper water treatment, collects 
condensates from air handling unit 

reclaimed water, is used as a non-potable 
water source for cooling tower systems 
where the supply is made available by 
PUB. In recognition of these sustainability 

5 in 
Singapore held directly by Mapletree’s 
Singapore Commercial business unit 
recorded a total water consumption of 
280,479 cubic metres. In the following 

and measures to conserve more water. 

Mapletree has taken 
steps to improve energy 

design and development. 

At MBC in Singapore, some 

system optimisation controls; 

Maintaining building system and 

 Using façade glass windows with 
low emissivity coatings; and 

 Installing green roofs to reduce 
building cooling load. 
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Employees We aim to ensure that the work space and environment are safe 
and conducive for employees. Health-related programmes are 
organised at the premises in conjunction with Health Promotion 
Board while health and safety policies for employees are outlined 
in the Employee Handbook.

Third-party 
service 
providers

Requirements on health and safety standards are embedded 
within the selection criteria for the engagement of contractors 
and other third-party service providers. 

Tenants Tenants are provided with the following instructional manuals to 
ensure that the highest health and safety standards are adopted: 
a Fit-Out Manual which details clauses on safety rules for 
additions and alteration works, and a Tenant Handbook which 

Don’ts” in their business operations. 

Fire drills are conducted twice a year to familiarise tenants with 
the emergency evacuation procedures and assembly areas. 
Regular communications in the form of circulars are issued to 
tenants as and when heightened security and health risks arise, 

Tenants are also encouraged to use environmentally-friendly 
products and limit the use of items that will negatively impact 
indoor air quality.

Visitors

systems are tested annually to comply with building regulations. 

Social – People  
and Communities

Apart from building sustainable 
developments, Mapletree recognises  
its responsibilities to ensure the health 
and safety of its immediate stakeholders, 
and its role as a corporate citizen in  
the community. 
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The Mapletree Immersion Programme is a two-
day workshop for new hires to gain a deeper 
understanding of the company’s businesses

Health and Safety 
Mapletree is committed to safeguarding 
the health and safety of its employees, 
tenants, visitors and third-party service 
providers at all times. 

Standard operating procedures have been 
put in place to respond to emergencies 
readily. Properties in Singapore are 
managed by the property management 

reporting protocol in the event of serious 
construction accidents at any of its 
development sites. This allows for timely 
investigation and incident management. 
Mapletree also complies with the Ministry 
of Manpower’s reporting requirements on 
workplace incidents. 

Business continuity measures including 

tuned at all Singapore properties during 
the year. The properties are also subject 

 

Going forward, Mapletree aims to 
continue engaging its employees to play 
an active role in mitigating the health and 
safety risks within its properties. This 
will include continuing regular health and 
safety trainings for all employees, and 
engaging third-party service providers 
regularly to discuss and monitor their 
performance. In addition, Mapletree’s 
property managers ensure that buildings 
are well maintained, hazardous areas 
are clearly signposted, and regular 
inspections are conducted. 

Mapletree’s Group Development 
Management department initiates due 
diligence as early as possible when they 
pre-qualify and engage a new third-
party service provider. The company 
safety records of all third-party service 
providers are assessed as part of the 

suppliers were engaged in FY16/17, of 

were contracted with standard terms  
and conditions that include health and 
safety-related clauses. 

Employees across the Group reported 
zero workplace fatalities and zero major 
accidents in FY16/17.

Talent Retention
Human capital is a key asset to 
Mapletree. The Group believes in 
investing in its people and is committed 
to creating a diverse, inclusive and 
collaborative workplace. It does so 
through a range of training programmes 
tailored to meet the needs of employees, 

policies and regular engagement activities 
aimed at creating an environment that 
provides work-life balance.

Talent Attraction
Mapletree recognises that the long-
term sustainability of its business is 

retain talent. The Group has developed 
integrated human capital strategies and 
initiatives with a strong emphasis on 
equal opportunities, talent development, 
competitive compensation and employee 
wellness. Mapletree’s employment 

strictly to local labour laws.

The Group’s HR policies are based on 
equal opportunities and fair employment 
practices. Mapletree endeavours to be 
fair and progressive in its HR practices. 
All HR policies are made available to 
employees via the Employee Handbook.

Mapletree has structured initiatives such 

Mapletree Associate Programme, 
Mapletree Internship Programme and 
Work Placement Programme. The last 

opportunities to promising students  

as an avenue for Mapletree to attract 

Mapletree also strives to retain and 

 Female  Male 

Gender Diversity 

41%

59%

FY16/17

     >50

Age Diversity 

70%

13% 17%

FY16/17

Mapletree has maintained a diverse 
workforce in Singapore. As of 
31 March 2017, Mapletree had 916 
employees located in Singapore, 
including REIT management teams and 
other business subsidiaries based in 
Singapore. Both average turnover rate 
and average new hire rate for the annum 
stood at 1%. The majority of employees 
in Singapore were within the 30 to 50 
years age group. Female and male 
employees constitute 59% and 41% 
respectively on an annual average as at 
31 March 2017. 
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Developing People
Mapletree believes that having 

 

Employee Well-being

Local Communities 
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The Mapletree team representing the host in the inaugural Mapletree Futsal Challenge 2017, a joint corporate social responsibility initiative between Mapletree 
and its MBC tenants to raise funds in support of youth intervention programmes

Mapletree Shaping & Sharing 
Programme, a Group-wide Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) framework 
which focuses on two broad objectives 
of empowering individuals and enriching 

Committee comprising Mapletree’s 
Chairman, two Board representatives 
from the four REITs (rotated on a two-year 
basis), and Senior Management, provides 
strategic oversight on the Programme. 

The Group Corporate Communications 
team assesses all proposed community 
involvement initiatives against the 
Mapletree CSR framework and makes 
recommendations to the CSR Board 

outcomes and longer-term engagement, 

are prioritised.

Mapletree aligns business performance 

S$1 million annually to fund social 
commitments and programmes. This 
increases to S$2 million when the 

S$300 million, as it did in FY16/17.

Supporting Tertiary Education 
Education is a key pillar of Mapletree’s 
CSR framework. As a strong supporter of 
tertiary education in Singapore, Mapletree 
has contributed S$3 million to date to the 

to over 90 university students annually 

this support, Mapletree committed 
an additional S$3 million to education 
programmes in Singapore in FY16/17. 

During the year, Mapletree also 

sponsoring book prizes of S$1,000 each 
to bursary recipients from the National 
University of Singapore and Nanyang 

Technological University who achieved 
satisfactory academic results.
 
Mapletree supports students pursuing 
practice-oriented education through 
the Mapletree Academic Achievement 
Programme (MAAP). The MAAP has 

diploma graduation book prizes across 

from Academic Year (AY)15/16. It has 
also committed to sponsor graduation 
prizes for the diploma programmes of 
SIM Global Education, which will fund 

years from AY16/17. 

Continued Support for 
Youths-at-risk
Since 2012, Mapletree has contributed 

sports and arts programmes of Boys’ 
Town and Assumption Pathway School, 
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In 2016, Mapletree sponsored 

and soccer boots for the Boys’ Town 
soccer team. 

Mapletree also involved its employees 
and tenants in the Mapletree Futsal 
Challenge 2017, a charity event held 
at the MBC futsal courts on 16 March 
2017 which raised S$6,000 in support of 
Beyond Social Services. The proceeds 
were used to fund programmes for 
underprivileged youths. 

In addition, the Group launched the 
Mapletree Youth Resilience Programme 

and drive to pursue an education despite 
their disadvantaged backgrounds. During 
the year, Mapletree provided more than 

through the programme, and aims to 

Arts in the City, a complimentary series of lunchtime arts performances held regularly at Mapletree Business City, aimed at providing the working community 
with more opportunities to engage with the arts

to other youth-related charities over the 
longer term.

Remembering the Legacy  
of Mr Lee Kuan Yew 

to remember the legacy of Singapore’s 
late founding Prime Minister Mr Lee Kuan 
Yew, Mapletree commissioned the Straits 
Times Press to produce two books about 
Mr Lee for young readers. 

“LKY: Follow that Rainbow, Go Ride It”, 
these books chronicle the life of Mr Lee 
and his dreams for Singapore. The books 
highlight the importance of values such 

During the year, 6,000 special edition 
complimentary copies of the activity 

 
were produced and distributed 
in support of the Early Childhood 

Development Agency’s “Start Small 
Dream Big” initiative. 
 

To inspire a more vibrant CSR culture, 

launched in June 2014 as a specialised 
platform that empowers employees to 
initiate and carry out CSR projects which 

teams were awarded seed funding of 
S$5,000 each under the programme to 
carry out their projects. 

reading cum craft sessions at preschools 
operated by the PAP Community 
Foundation which included reading 

 

Since 2011, Mapletree has hosted 
annual Blood Donation Drives at MBC. 
To promote greater participation, two 
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donation drives were held in 2016, 
which saw more than 280 bags of blood 
collected over four days.

In addition, employees from China and 

monthly engagement activities with 
senior citizens living near Mapletree’s 

classroom furniture for a village primary 
school near Mapletree’s Global 
Technology Park in Bangalore, India.

Supporting the Arts 
Mapletree’s support for the arts stems 
from the desire to enliven real estate 
spaces. Through arts performances 

programme and venue sponsorship 
for outreach activities under the 
National Arts Council’s Arts in Your 
Neighbourhood initiative, the Group 
has been engaging local artists and 
presenting a regular stream of arts 

development. In February 2017, as part 
of AITC, performing arts groups NADI 
Singapura and TRDO enthralled the 
MBC community with their lunchtime 
performances featuring energetic 
drumbeats and dance moves.

Earlier in September 2016, Mapletree 
donated S$20,000 in support of 
Esplanade’s “Jazzy Business – Jeremy 
Monteiro’s and The Business Times’ 
40th Anniversary Concert”. 

Venue Sponsorship 

support to CSR-related events at its 
Singapore properties, contributing 
in-kind sponsorship of more than 

include venue support for the Health 
Promotion Board’s Workplace Health 
Promotion series at MBC and the sale of 
merchandise from Pathlight School and 
Purple Parade at VivoCity.

Community Feedback 
As a responsible corporate citizen, 

create sustainable long-term value for its 
communities. To achieve this, the Group 
is developing feedback mechanisms to 
gather input from the local community 
on ways it can improve the social and 
environmental impacts of its business 

activities. Please send feedback  
on reporting disclosures to  
enquiry@mapletree.com.sg.

Governance – 
Ensuring Compliance 

Although not listed on the stock 

disclosures, Mapletree observes a high 
standard of corporate governance and 
transparency in its business operations. 
A corporate governance framework was 
implemented with policies that were 
developed to uphold the Group’s core 
values. Employees are required to adhere 
to the ethics and code of conduct policy 
and maintain high levels of integrity. 

on anti-corruption practices – such as 
the prohibition of bribery, acceptance or 

The Whistleblowing Policy6 establishes 
procedures for reporting in good faith 
any improper conduct while protecting 
whistleblowers from reprisals. 

Mapletree reserves the right at all times 
to terminate an employee’s services if he/ 
she is found guilty of fraud, dishonesty 
or criminal conduct in relation to his/her 
employment. Employees are required 

to comply with the Group’s policies 
and procedures at all times and in all 
areas, including attendance, safe work 
practices and professional conduct. 

Procedures are in place to monitor and 
manage the risk of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations. Where there are 
cases of threatened or pending litigation, 
such incidents are reported at once to 
the CEO of the business unit and the 
Head of Group Corporate Services 
and Group General Counsel for timely 
resolution. On dealing in Mapletree REIT 
units, directors and employees receive 

trading ban period to ensure compliance. 

Going forward, the Group intends 
to conduct training for directors and 
relevant employees of Mapletree Group 
as and when there are substantial new 
areas of law. 

For FY16/17, there were no material 
breaches of relevant local laws and 
regulations, including marketing 
communication and anti-corruption laws. 

In support of Singapore Red Cross, Mapletree hosts a Blood Donation Drive at MBC twice a year to 

6  Refer to the Corporate Governance section on 
pages 76 to 79 for more details.
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Sustainability 
Corporate Governance

As Mapletree continues its 

business expansion in Asia 

and beyond, the importance 

of maintaining good corporate 

governance practices to 

ensure investor confidence and 

business integrity becomes 

more entrenched in its activities. 

Although Mapletree is not listed on 

a stock exchange and therefore not 

subject to mandatory disclosures, 

it voluntarily subscribes to some 

of the core principles set out in the 

Code of Corporate Governance 

(Code) issued by the Monetary 

Authority of Singapore.

Mapletree is also firmly 

committed to ensuring long-term 

value creation and integrating 

sustainability into its strategy, 

policies and practices. To this end, 

Mapletree has voluntarily published 

its inaugural Sustainability Report 

which can be found on pages 66 to 

75 of this Annual Report. 

A) Board Matters

Mapletree adopts the principle that 

one that is constituted with the right 
core competencies and diversity of 

the Board provides strategic guidance 
and diverse insights to support the 
Management, and the Management  
is accountable to the Board.

The key roles of the Board are to:

direction of the Group

discharges business leadership and 
demonstrates the highest quality 
of management with integrity and 
enterprise; and

Management

Board Committee Membership
The Board comprises 10 members, of 

and Independent Directors. Board 

committees are also constituted to assist 
the Board in discharging its duties. The 
following sets out the composition of the 
Board and the various Board committees.

Mapletree’s Directors are business 
leaders and distinguished professionals 

appointed based on their professional 

overall consideration that their collective 

to the Board’s deliberations. The diverse 
professional background of the Directors 

perspectives on issues brought before 

to act in good faith and consider the 
interests of the Group at all times.

The Board meets at least once every 
quarter to assess Mapletree’s business 
performance and key activities, as 
well as reviews strategic policies and 

The Board is updated on any material 
change to relevant laws, regulations and 

Name Board of 
Directors

Audit and Risk 
Committee (AC)

Executive Resource 
and Compensation 
Committee (ERCC)

Investment  
Committee (IC)

Transaction Review 
Committee (TRC)

Mr Edmund Cheng Wai Wing Chairman Chairman Chairman
Mr Lee Chong Kwee Member Chairman Chairman
Mr Paul Ma Kah Woh Member Member Member Member
Mr Tsang Yam Pui Member Member
Mr Wong Meng Meng Member Member Member
Mr David Christopher Ryan Member Member
Mr Samuel N. Tsien Member
Ms Elaine Teo Member Member
Mr Cheah Kim Teck Member
Ms Chan Wai Ching Co-opted Member
Mr Hiew Yoon Khong Member Group CEO 

Mr Wong Mun Hoong Group CFO 
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by professionals or updates issued  
by the Management.

All Directors provide, and are also 
provided with the other Directors’ 
disclosures of interests.
 
Board Composition  
and Balance
Mapletree adopts the principle that 
at least one-third of its Directors are 
independent and the majority of them 

Independent Directors. This generates 
broad and in-depth deliberations between 
the Board and the Management, which 

diverse and objective perspectives.

The Board is supported by the AC to 

risk and audit matters. In addition, other 
Board committees, namely the ERCC, 
the IC and the TRC, are constituted 

business. All these ensure optimal 

active participation and contribution.

Chairman and Chief  

Mapletree adopts the principle that  
a clear separation between the roles and 
responsibilities of the Chairman and the 
Group CEO institutes an appropriate 
balance of power and authority.

Director, the Chairman guides the Board 
in constructive debates on the matters 
of strategic direction, management and 

Chairman is free to act independently 
in the best interests of Mapletree. The 
Chairman and the Group CEO are not 
related to each other.

The Group CEO, who is a Board member, 
is responsible for the management and 
strategy of the Group’s business. The 

responsibilities over the business 
directions and operational decisions 
of the Group. The Group CEO is also 
responsible for ensuring compliance with 
the applicable laws and regulations in the 
Group’s day-to-day operations.

Mr Chua Tiow Chye was appointed as 
Deputy Group CEO on 1 March 2017 and 
is responsible for driving the Group’s 
strategy initiatives. He is also tasked to 

level of business objectives.

Board Membership
Mapletree adopts the principle that 
Board renewal is an ongoing process to 
ensure good governance and to remain 
relevant to the changing needs of the 
Group. All appointments and resignations 
of Board members are approved by the 
Board. All Board members are required 
to submit themselves for re-nomination 
and re-election at regular intervals. As 
a Board member, the Group CEO is also 
subject to retirement and re-election. 
In this regard, Mapletree has refreshed 
its Board with the appointment 
of Mr David Christopher Ryan and 
Mr Samuel N. Tsien in March 2014, 
Ms Elaine Teo in February 2016 and 
Mr Cheah Kim Teck in March 2017.

Board Performance
Mapletree adopts the principle that 
the Board’s performance is ultimately 

Group. Each Board member is given 

perspective to the Board to enable 
fruitful discussions for balanced and 
well-considered decisions to be made.

Access to Information
Mapletree adopts the principle that the 
Board shall be provided with timely and 
complete information prior to Board 
meetings and when the need arises. 
New Board members are briefed on 
Mapletree’s business.

Management is required to provide 
adequate and timely information to the 
Board, which includes matters requiring 
the Board’s decision as well as ongoing 
reports relating to the operational and 

Management is also required to furnish 
any additional information requested 
by the Board in a timely manner for the 
Board to make informed decisions.

The Board has separate and independent 
access to the Management and the 
Company Secretary. The Company 
Secretary attends to the administration 
of corporate secretarial matters, 
attends all Board and Board committee 

meetings, and provides assistance to 
the Chairman in ensuring adherence 
to Board procedures. To discharge its 

takes independent professional advice 
as and when necessary. The AC meets 

separately at least once a year, without 
the presence of the Management.

B) Remuneration Matters

Mapletree adopts the principle that 
remuneration matters are to be 

to good market practices, in order to 

and manage its business.
 
Mapletree adopts the principle that 
remuneration for the Board and the 
Senior Management should be viewed 
in totality. To ensure continuous talent 
development and renewal of strong 
and sound leadership, the Group has 
implemented a performance-linked 
remuneration system. To this end,  
the ERCC is responsible for recruiting 
and retaining key talents.

The members of the ERCC are:

Director, Temasek International 

All ERCC members are independent 
of the Management. The ERCC 

development of the management bench 
strength, so as to build and augment a 
capable and dedicated management 
team, and gives guidance on progressive 
policies which can attract, motivate and 

present and future growth of the Group.

 

 

reviews succession plans for key 
positions; and 
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Annually, the ERCC conducts a 
succession planning review of the Group 
CEO and select key positions in the 
Group. In this regard, potential internal 

are reviewed for immediate, medium term 
and longer term needs. The ERCC held  
a total of four meetings in FY16/17.

Director, does not receive director’s fees. 
He is a lead member of the Management. 
His compensation consists of his 
salary, allowances, bonuses and share 
appreciation awards from the Group.  
The latter is conditional upon him 
meeting certain performance targets. 
The Group CEO is not present during 
discussions relating to his own 
compensation, terms and conditions  
of service, and performance review.

Previously, the ERCC’s duties included 

and talent development matters of 
Mapletree Logistics Trust Management 

Commercial Trust Management Ltd 

Commercial Trust Management Ltd 

Manager of Mapletree Logistics Trust, 
Mapletree Industrial Trust, Mapletree 
Commercial Trust and Mapletree Greater 

of which has Mapletree as sponsor. Since 
January 2016, with the establishment 
of a Nominating and Remuneration 

of directors of MLTM, MITM, MCTM and 
MGCCTM, the respective NRC oversees 
the remuneration and succession matters 
of the directors and senior management 
of each REIT manager.

C) Accountability and Audit

Accountability
Mapletree adopts the principle that to 

there is a need to deliver sustainable 
value. The Group complies with statutory 
and regulatory requirements as well as 
adopts best practices in its business 
processes. On a regular basis, the 
Board is also apprised of the Group’s 
performance in order to make a balanced 
and informed assessment of the Group’s 
performance, position and prospects.

Internal Controls
Mapletree adopts the principle that 
a sound internal controls system is 
necessary to establish an internal  
control framework which addresses  

applicable to its business and operating 
environment, as well as the Group’s risk 
management system. These internal 
controls provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance on the achievement 
of their intended control objectives.  
The key elements of Mapletree’s system 
of controls are as follows:

Operating structure

structure with lines of responsibility 
and delegated authority, as well as a 
reporting mechanism to the Senior 
Management and the Board.

Policies, procedures and practices
Controls are detailed in formal 

the Board has approved a set of 
delegations of authority that sets out 
approval limits for operational and 

and divestments, bank borrowings 
and cheque signatory arrangements. 
Approval sub-limits are also provided at 
various management levels to facilitate 

system of checks and balances.

Mapletree’s procedures and practices 
are regularly reviewed and revised  
where necessary to enhance controls 

 
control self-assessment programme  
to promote accountability, control  
and risk ownership, in order to cultivate  
a stronger sense of risk awareness  
within the Group.
 

compliance with these control procedures 
and manuals, including IT controls.

Whistleblowing policy
To reinforce a culture of good business 
ethics and governance, Mapletree has  
a whistleblowing policy to encourage the 
reporting, in good faith, of any suspected 
improper conduct, including possible 

the whistleblowers from reprisals. Any 

for investigation and to the AC for 

the relevant REIT manager AC Chairman 
and the relevant REIT manager AC where 
it involved the respective Mapletree REIT 
and/or the Mapletree REIT manager.  
For queries or to make a report, please 
write to reporting@mapletree.com.sg. 

Risk management
Risk management is an integral part 
of Mapletree’s business management. 
In order to safeguard and create value 
for stakeholders, Mapletree proactively 
manages risks and requires the risk 
management process to be part of  
the Group’s planning and decision-
making process.

In this regard, the Risk Management 

management framework, reviews 

of the risk management system, 
and monitors the key risks faced 
by the Group. It reports to the AC 

and recommendations in respect of 

The risk management system is dynamic 
and evolves with the business. RM works 
closely with the Management to review 
and enhance the risk management 
system to be in line with market practices 
and regulatory requirements.

More information relating to risk 
management can be found on pages 80 
and 81 of this Annual Report.

Information Technology controls
As part of the risk management process, 
general IT controls have been put in 
place and are periodically reviewed to 
ensure that IT risks and cyber-security 

addition, as part of Mapletree’s business 
continuity plan, IT disaster recovery 
planning and tests are conducted to 
ensure that critical IT systems remain 
functional in a crisis situation.

Financial reporting
The Board is updated quarterly on 

performance, in comparison with budgets 
and actual performance of corresponding 
periods in the preceding year, as well as 
an updated full-year forecast. The Board 
is also provided with quarterly updates  
on key operational activities.
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Financial management
The Management reviews the 
performance of the Group’s portfolio 

 
and operational discipline at all levels  
of the Group.

liquidity risk, currency risk and credit 
risk. Where necessary and appropriate. 
Mapletree hedges against interest and/ 

Management proactively manages 

working capital lines and loan facilities 
are maintained. The Group also has
in place credit control procedures 
for managing tenant credit risk and 
monitoring debt collection.

Internal audit
Annually, IA prepares a risk-based 
audit plan to review the adequacy and 

internal controls. The department is also 
involved during the year in conducting 
system or process reviews that may be 
requested by the AC or the Management 

so, IA obtains reasonable assurance 
that business objectives for the process 
under review are being achieved and  
key control mechanisms are in place.

After each review, a formal report 

appropriate recommendations is issued 
to the AC. IA monitors and reports on the 
timely implementation of the action plans 
to the Management and the AC quarterly.

independent perspective on certain 

system arising from their work, and 

Transaction Review Committee
Since March 2013, with the listing of 
MGCCT, Mapletree has established a 

of interest that may arise between 
MGCCT and the Mapletree China 

mandate includes investment properties 
in China) as well as any future Greater 

investment mandate includes commercial 
properties in Greater China) concerning 
the process to be undertaken to acquire 
investment properties in Greater China, 

of any seed asset for a future Greater 
China commercial private fund. With 

apply if the proposed acquisition is by 
way of a tender, auction or any other 
form of competitive process.

Audit and Risk Committee

active participation and contribution.

Mapletree adopts the principle that the 
AC shall have at least three members, 

the majority of whom, including the AC 
Chairman, must be independent.

The AC has written Terms of Reference 
dealing with its scope and authority, 
which include:

audit plans; 

Management’s responses to them; 

 
of information prepared for inclusion  

auditors; and 

auditors. 

In addition, the AC also:

auditors, without the presence of 
the Management, at least once 
a year to review and discuss the 

recommendations; and 

the matters reported via the 
whistleblowing mechanism by 

raise concerns about suspected 

irregularities. 

The objective is to ensure that 
arrangements are in place for independent 
investigations of any matter arising from 
such meetings, and for review of such 
investigations to ensure appropriate 

follow-up actions are taken. The AC held  
a total of four meetings in FY16/17.

Internal Audit
Mapletree adopts the practice that IA 
reports directly to the Chairman of the 
AC and administratively to the Group 

The role of IA is to conduct its internal 
audit work in consultation with but 
independently of the Management.  

submitted to the AC. The AC also meets 
with IA at least once a year without the 
presence of the Management. The Head 
of IA is a member of the Singapore 
branch of the Institute of Internal Auditors 

conformance with the Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 

has incorporated these Standards into  
its audit practices.

The Standards set by the IIA cover 
requirements on:

The internal auditors involved in IT audits 

and members of the Information System 

the US. The ISACA Information System 
Auditing Standards provide guidance
on the standards and procedures to be 
applied in IT audits.

To ensure that the internal audits are 
performed by competent professionals, 

their technical knowledge to remain 
current and relevant, IA also provides 
training and development opportunities 

D) Communication  
with Shareholders

Mapletree adopts the principle 
of providing regular and timely 
communications with its shareholder,  
as well as ensuring equal access
to information.
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Sustainability
Risk Management

Risk management continues to 

be an integral part of Mapletree’s 

business strategy of delivering 

strong earnings and sustainable 

returns. To safeguard and 

create stakeholder value, 

the Management proactively 

manages risks and embeds 

the risk management process 

as part of the Group’s planning 

and decision-making process.

Strong Oversight 
and Governance

responsible for determining the Group’s 
overall risk strategy and risk governance, 
and ensuring that the Management 
implements sound risk management and 
internal control practices. The Board also 
approves the risk appetite and tolerance 
statements, which set out the nature 

the Group’s business objectives. The 
Board is supported by the Audit and 

independent directors whose collective 

guide and challenge the Management. 
The AC has direct access to the Risk 

it engages with quarterly as part of its 
review of Mapletree’s portfolio risks.

At Mapletree, the risk management 
culture involves both top-down oversight 
and bottom-up engagement from all 
employees. This ensures a risk approach 
that is aligned with the Group’s business 
objectives and strategies, and is 
integrated with operational processes 

Mapletree’s enterprise risk management 
framework is dynamic and evolves with 
the business. It provides the Group 
with a holistic and consistent process 

monitoring and reporting of risks. 
The RM department works closely 

with the Management to review and 
enhance the risk management system 
in accordance with market practices 
and regulatory requirements. A Group-

framework further creates risk awareness 
by fostering accountability, control 
and risk ownership and provides an 
additional assurance to the Management 
and the Board that operational risks 

managed and controlled.

Robust Measurement 
and Analysis

Mapletree’s risk measurement 
framework is based on Value-at-Risk 

the volatilities of market and property 
risk drivers such as rental rates, 

occupancy rates, capital values, 

rates. It takes into consideration 
changes in the market environment 

To complement the VaR methodology, 

related and development risks are also 
assessed, monitored and measured as 
part of the framework where feasible.

With the VaR methodology, Mapletree 

across business units, countries and 
asset types, identifying high-risk 
assets, sectors and countries. This 
enables the Management to make 

Recognising the limitations of any 
statistically-based system that relies 

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

Risk Appetite, Tolerance, 
Attitudes and Philosophy

Key Risks

Risk 
Assurance

Risk Reporting
Structures, Roles
and Responsibilities

Risk
Management
Process

Risk 
Governance

Internal
Audit

Key Risk 
Indicators

Delegation 
of Authority

Standard 
Operating 

Procedures

Control Self- 
Assessment Trainings Whistle-

blowing

Risk  1

Risk 
Treatment 3

Risk
Management

Process

Risk
Strategy

Strategic ComplianceFinancialOperationalExternal Information
Technology

Risk 
Assessment

Risk 
Evaluation

Risk 
Analysis

 2

Risk 
Monitoring 4

Risk 
Reporting 5
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on historical data, Mapletree’s portfolio 
is subject to stress tests and scenario 
analyses to ensure that the Group 

market shocks.

 
and Assessment

assesses their likelihood and impact 
on the business, and establishes 
corresponding mitigating controls. 
The information is maintained in a risk 
register that is reviewed and updated 

but are not limited to:

Strategic Risks
Mapletree’s portfolio is subject to real 
estate market risks such as rental 
rate and occupancy volatilities in 
the countries where it operates and 

supply, demand and local regulations. 

reported for assessment and/or action. 

The Group has a disciplined investment 
approach which subjects all investment 
proposals to stringent reviews. Project 
returns are assessed against internal 

which are independently determined 
by the RM department and regularly 
reviewed by the Management. Sensitivity 
analysis is also performed for each 
acquisition on all key project variables to 
test the robustness of the assumptions 
used. For material acquisitions, 
independent risk assessments are 
conducted by the RM department, 
and included in investment proposals 
submitted to the Investment Committee 
or the Board for approval. All investment 
proposals are subject to rigorous 

depending on agreed thresholds).

New development projects usually take  
a few years to complete, depending 

To mitigate development delays, cost 

quality, the Management has put in 

consultants and contractors, and 
continually reviews the project progress.

External Risks
To manage country risks such as 
economic uncertainties or political 
turbulence in the countries where it 
operates, Mapletree conducts rigorous 
country and real estate market research, 
and monitors economic and political 
developments closely.

Operational Risks
Comprehensive operating, reporting and 
monitoring guidelines enable Mapletree 
to manage day-to-day activities and 
mitigate operational risks. To ensure 
relevance, the Group regularly reviews its 

and benchmarks them against industry 
practices where appropriate. Compliance 
with SOPs is assessed under the CSA 
framework and reinforced through 
training of employees and regular  
reviews by the Internal Audit department.

Loss of key management personnel and 

to the Group’s business operations and 
hinder the Group from achieving its 
business objectives. The Management 
has put in place succession planning, 
talent management and competitive 

reward and retain performing personnel. 

The Group has in place a Business 

communication plan that should enable 
it to resume operations with minimal 
disruption and loss in the event of 
unforeseen catastrophic events such 
as terrorism and natural disasters. 
Mapletree’s properties are insured  
in accordance with industry norms  
in their respective jurisdictions and  
benchmarked against those in Singapore.

Financial Risks
Financial market risks and capital 
structure are closely monitored and 
actively managed by the Management, 
and reported to the Board on a quarterly 
basis. At the portfolio level, the risk 
impact of interest rate and currency 

monitored and reported quarterly using 
 

 
the concentration of the loan maturity 

The Management prudently manages 
 

way of interest rate swaps. To mitigate 

borrows in the same currency as the 
underlying assets to provide a natural 
hedge, and/or hedges through derivatives, 
whenever appropriate. The Management 
also actively monitors the Group’s 

fund operations and meet short-term 
obligations. In addition, it tracks and 
monitors bank concentration risks, 

Compliance Risks
The Group is committed to comply  
with applicable laws and regulations 
of the various jurisdictions in which it 
operates. Non-compliance may result  

the applicable laws and regulatory 
obligations, and embeds compliance  
to these laws and regulations in its  
day-to-day business processes.

Information Technology (IT) Risks
The threat of cyber security attack 
continues to be a concern as 
such attacks become increasingly 
sophisticated. Mapletree has in place 
comprehensive policies and procedures 
governing information availability,  
control and governance, as well as 
data security. The Group’s IT disaster 
recovery plan is in place and tested 
annually to ensure that Mapletree’s 
business recovery objectives are met. 
In addition, network penetration testing 
is conducted regularly to check for 
potential security gaps.

Rigorous Monitoring  
and Control

Mapletree has developed internal key risk 
indicators that serve as a warning system 
by highlighting risks that have escalated 
beyond established tolerance levels. 
The Management has also established 
required actions to be taken when risk 
thresholds are breached.

Every quarter, the RM department 
presents to the Board and AC a 
comprehensive report highlighting key 

results of stress testing scenarios and 
status of key risk indicators. The Board 
and AC are also kept abreast of any 
material changes to the Group’s risk 
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Property 
Portfolio

Name of Building/Site Holding Company 
Stake  

(%)

Land  
Area  

(sqm)

GFA  
(sqm)

NLA  
(sqm)

Singapore

Commercial

HarbourFront Centre HarbourFront Centre Pte Ltd 100 32,900 97,700 65,900

HarbourFront Tower One HarbourFront Two Pte Ltd 100 10,900 
combined

40,300 34,200

HarbourFront Tower Two HarbourFront Two Pte Ltd 100 19,200 14,200

PSA Vista Vista Real Estate Investments Pte Ltd 100 12,900 21,900 13,300

St James Power Station The HarbourFront Pte Ltd 100 17,800 8,700 6,100

Industrial

43 Keppel Road Bougainvillea Realty Pte Ltd 100 8,600 10,500 7,800

Pasir Panjang Distripark1 Bougainvillea Realty Pte Ltd 100 56,600 55,700 50,000

Tanjong Pagar Distripark Bougainvillea Realty Pte Ltd 100 40,800 80,500 62,800

Mixed-Use

18 Tai Seng Mapletree Trustee Pte Ltd  100 11,800 41,200 35,700

Mapletree Business City II Mapletree Business City Pte Ltd 100 108,5002 309,0002 110,100

Sites for Development/Land Leases

HF3 Residential Site HarbourFront Three Pte Ltd 61 28,600 32,000 –

SPI Development Site HarbourFront Four Pte Ltd 100 25,000 32,000 –

West Coast Ferry Terminal  Bougainvillea Realty Pte Ltd 100 19,900 – 18,800

Australia

Corporate Housing / Serviced Apartment

Oakwood Apartments Brisbane 100 2,966 10,642 6,697



83Property Portfolio

Name of Building/Site Holding Company 
Stake  

(%)

Land  
Area  

(sqm)

GFA  
(sqm)

NLA  
(sqm)

1G Homebush Bay Drive Grafton ROA Trust 100 4,300 – 12,155

Grafton ROA Trust 100 6,923 – 13,394

53 Ord Street Grafton ROA Trust 100 6,055 – 6,864

78 Waterloo Road Grafton ROA Trust 100 5,496 – 14,990

118 Talavera Road Grafton ROA Trust 100 4,490 – 11,658

144 Montague Road Montague QL Trust 100 3,257 – 14,742

China

Industrial

Mapletree Baoshan  
Industrial Park

Shanghai Fullshine Industrial 
Development Co., Ltd

100 79,269 68,433 66,877

Logistics

Mapletree Changsha Hi-Tech 
Logistics Park

Fengshun Logistics & Development 100 125,333 79,713 79,252

Mapletree Changsha Hi-Tech II 
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 140,207 101,596 97,888

Mapletree Changshu Hi-Tech 
Logistics Park

Changshu Fengjia Logistics  
Co., Ltd

100 100,672 59,537 60,966

Mapletree Chengdu Qingbaijiang 
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 153,951 111,887 111,701

Mapletree Chongqing Bonded  
Port Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 73,602 82,538 82,391

Mapletree Chongqing Jiangjin 
Industrial Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 73,587 47,436 47,013

Mapletree Cross-Border  
Co., Ltd

100 88,938 106,762 97,621

Mapletree Dalian Logistics Park  
Co., Ltd

100 96,531 58,837 57,739

Logistics Park Phase 2
Fenghang Logistics Development  100 119,422 64,009 63,594

Mapletree Greater Nanjing 
Logistics Park 

 
Co., Ltd

100 172,106 102,620 101,615
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Name of Building/Site Holding Company 
Stake  

(%)

Land  
Area  

(sqm)

GFA  
(sqm)

NLA  
(sqm)

Mapletree Hangzhou Xiaoshan 
Logistics Park 

 
Co., Ltd

100 83,593 94,590 109,491

 
Co., Ltd

100 62,346 35,735 35,683

Mapletree Jinan International 
Logistics Park

Fengcheng Logistics Development  100 126,770 81,912 80,931

Logistics Park
 

Co., Ltd
100 101,351 101,108 104,898

Mapletree Nanchang EDZ 
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 121,134 74,991 73,950

Mapletree Nantong EDZ  
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 108,782 67,895 67,504

Mapletree Nantong NCEDZ 
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 135,735 78,624 77,361

Mapletree Ningbo Cidong 
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 238,292 132,968 131,606

Mapletree Quanzhou QTIZ 
Logistics Park

Quanzhou Fenglian Warehouse  
Co., Ltd

100 104,793 126,764 125,963

Mapletree Tianjin Airport  
Logistics Park Development Co., Ltd

100 48,281 66,470 58,293

Mapletree Tianjin Port HaiFeng 
Bonded Logistics Park

Mapletree Tianjin Free Port 49 182,192 194,072 177,882

Mapletree Tianjin Wuqing  
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 47,100 30,050 29,148

Mapletree Wuhan Yangluo 
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 116,467 70,772 69,984

Logistics Park 
Fengshou Warehouse Development 100 99,958 119,599 123,708

Mapletree Xiaogan Logistics Park  
Co., Ltd

100 124,342 78,756 77,882

Mapletree Yuyao Simeng  
Logistics Park

 
Co., Ltd

100 83,622 48,914 48,914

Arca Building 100 22,749 19,695 19,695

Germany 

Dachauer Strasse 641 - 655 Mapletree LUXE Assets S.a.r.l. 100 66,670 60,041 58,658
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Name of Building/Site Holding Company 
Stake  

(%)

Land  
Area  

(sqm)

GFA  
(sqm)

NLA  
(sqm)

Hong Kong SAR

Logistics

Mapletree Logistics Hub Tsing Yi 100 21,000 85,000 148,065

Mapletree Bay Point 100 5,112 61,344 52,817

Japan

Corporate Housing / Serviced Apartment

Oakwood Apartments Azabudai Kashinoki Tokutei Mokuteki Kaisha 100 364 3,000 2,185

Omori Prime Building Satsuki Tokutei Mokuteki Kaisha 100 1,764 11,111 6,798

Malaysia 

Logistics 

Mapletree Logistics Hub –  
Shah Alam

Winning Paramount Sdn Bhd 100 185,800 213,130 207,662

Mapletree Logistics Hub – 
Tanjung Pelepas, Iskandar

Trinity Bliss Sdn Bhd 100 112,988 133,698 131,638

Retail

Jaya Shopping Centre Jaya Development Pte Ltd 100 8,600 65,900 24,000

United Kingdom

Mixed-Use

Green Park Green Park Reading No. 1 LLP 100 790,000 – 130,064

3 Hardman Street Hardman Investment Unit Trust 100 6,330 – 36,767

Diageo Headquarters 100 6,020 – 14,447

iQ Building Aberdeen IQ Unit Trust 100 4,200 – 11,665

One Glass Wharf Glass Wharf JV Limited 100 4,950 – 20,080
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Name of Building/Site Holding Company 
Stake  

(%)

Land  
Area  

(sqm)

GFA  
(sqm)

NLA  
(sqm)

United States

Corporate Housing / Serviced Apartment

Oakwood Dallas Uptown Bryson Noble LLC 100 9,429 24,488 20,815

Oakwood Miracle Mile Eighth Wilshire LLC 100 3,359 8,323 7,174

Oakwood Mountain View Boulevard City LLC 100 9,308 13,781 12,023

Oakwood Portland Pearl District Everett City LLC 100 1,862 7,897 6,890

Oakwood Raleigh at Brier Creek Courtney NC LLC 100 77,621 29,928 27,380

Oakwood Redwood City Boulevard City LLC 100 10,158 12,625 10,019

Oakwood Seattle South  
Lake Union

100 1,335 8,490 6,325

Oakwood Silicon Valley Labrador Cascades LLC 100 19,547 19,546 12,144

Vietnam 

Commercial

CentrePoint Nguyen Vu Investment Joint  
Stock Company

100 4,163 44,732 28,129

Mapletree Business Centre 100 1,750 29,570 23,010

SC VivoCity Mapletree Tan Phong Ltd 62 33,600 62,600 40,300

Corporate Housing / Serviced Apartment

Oakwood Residence Saigon Saigon South Serviced  
Apartments Co., Ltd

100 5,1433 34,097 21,081

Industrial

Mapletree Business City 
@ Binh Duong

Mapletree Business City  100 748,760 706,557 –
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Name of Building/Site Holding Company 
Stake  

(%)

Land  
Area  

(sqm)

GFA  
(sqm)

NLA  
(sqm)

Logistics 

Mapletree Logistics Park  
Bac Ninh Phase 2-5

Mapletree Logistics Park Bac Ninh  

Mapletree Logistics Park Bac Ninh  

Mapletree Logistics Park Bac Ninh  

Mapletree Logistics Park Bac Ninh  

100 454,207 255,873 255,873

Mapletree Logistics Park  
Binh Duong Phase 1, 3-6

Mapletree Logistics Park Phase 1 

Mapletree Logistics Park Phase 3 

Mapletree Logistics Park Phase 4 

Mapletree Logistics Park Phase 5 

Mapletree Logistics Park Phase 6 

100 570,194 375,194 373,087

Mixed-Use

Kumho Asiana Plaza 100 13,632 146,000 80,000

Ever-Fortune Trading Center Joint
Stock Company

100 5,429 26,107 22,674

Residential

RichLane Residences Saigon South Serviced Apartments  
Co., Ltd

100 5,1433 28,603 19,210

Sites for Development/Land Leases

Residential Site at District 2  
Ho Chi Minh City

100 16,684 108,446 83,400

3 Combined land area for Oakwood Residence Saigon and RichLane Residences.

For more information on our properties, please visit our website at www.mapletree.com.sg
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Awards 
and Accolades

Investment &  
Capital Management 

6th Place in the 2016 APAC Fund 
Manager Guide

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd

Vietnam M&A Deal Awards 2016 –  
Best Real Estate Project Transfer

 
and AVM Vietnam 
Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd  
for Kumho Asiana Plaza

2013 Global PERE Awards –  
Asia Capital Raise of the Year

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd for 
Mapletree China Opportunity Fund II

Building Excellence 

Euromoney Real Estate Awards 2016 – 
Best Overall Industrial/Warehouse 
Developer in Singapore 
Euromoney
Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd

Euromoney Real Estate Awards 2015 – 
Best Industrial/Warehouse Developer 
in Vietnam 
Euromoney
Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd

SG Mark Award 2015

Mapletree Business City II

Universal Design Mark Gold Award 2015
Building and Construction Authority, 

Mapletree Business City II

International Property Awards 2015 – 
Best International Mixed-Use 
Architecture
International Property Media
Mapletree Business City Shanghai  
and VivoCity Shanghai

Vietnam Property Awards 2015 –  
Best Retail Architectural Design 
(Winner) 

SC VivoCity

Business Sustainability 

Patron of the Arts 2016

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd

BCA Green Mark Champion Award 2015
Building and Construction Authority, 

Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd

Biodiversity Benchmark 2016
Wildlife Trust, United Kingdom
Green Park 

2017 LEED BD+C: Core and Shell  
Gold Level 

Mapletree Logistics Hub Tsing Yi

2016 LEED India for Core and Shell 
Development Gold Level
Indian Green Building Council

 
for Core and Shell Development  
Gold Level

For more information on our awards and accolades, 
please visit our website at www.mapletree.com.sg

and Shell Development Gold Level

Mapletree Bay Point

and Shell Development Gold Level

Mapletree Business City Shanghai

and Shell Development Gold Level

Mapletree Business City II

FIABCI Prix d’Excellence Awards 2012 – 
Runner-up (Sustainable Development 
Category)
Federation Internationale  
des Administrateurs de  
Bien-Conseils Immobiliers
Mapletree Business City

Retail & Service Experience
 
AsiaOne People’s Choice Awards 2016 –
Best Shopping Centre – Top 3

VivoCity
 
Top 10 Favourite Shopping Mall  
Award 2016
Hong Kong Economic Times
Festival Walk
 
Apple Daily Best Mall Awards 2016 – 
Top 10 My Favourite Mall 

Festival Walk
 
2014 Commercial Landmark  
in Foshan City

VivoCity Nanhai
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Directors’ Statement

 

 

 

 Cheng Wai Wing Edmund  

 David Christopher Ryan  

 Tsang Yam Pui   

 Hiew Yoon Khong

 

 At date of appointment At date of appointment
 31.03.17 if later 31.03.17 if later

     
     
 Hiew Yoon Khong – – 30,000
    
     

190 190
1,667 1,550

 Cheah Kim Teck 177 – –
    
     

81,780 – –
– –

    
     

 Cheah Kim Teck 10,000 5,000
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performance achievement periods and the remaining awards will vest only after a further period of service beyond the performance target 

   Outstanding 
 

Hiew Yoon Khong  
–

757,500 1

 1

 1

1,503,106 1

1,603,615 1 –
–  

 3  

333,988 4  

 –
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   Outstanding
 

Cheng Wai Wing Edmund 60,668
David Christopher Ryan 

38,006
7,470

Tsang Yam Pui 8,866

On behalf of directors

Directors’ Statement
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Independent Auditor’s Report 



Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Statements of Profit or Loss 

 

  
   $’000  $’000

1,778,353
     

3,080
     

– Depreciation and amortisation   

– Professional fees   

– Others  

  1,584,804
    
Finance cost  – –
Finance income  

     
103,034 – –

– –

  1,601,074
     

  

     
Equity holder of the Company  1,349,590
Perpetual securities holders  64,099 – –
Non-controlling interests  – –
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Statements of Comprehensive Income

  
   $’000  $’000

  
     

     
     

     
 

– –

– Fair value losses   – –
– –

45,588 – –

666 – –
– –

     
     

     
 – – –

  – –

   

     
Equity holder of the Company  
Perpetual securities holders  64,099 – –
Non-controlling interests  791,664 – –
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Statements of Financial Position 

 

  
   $’000  $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 9 
– –

3,354,933
Property held for sale  41,157 – –

107,741
Inventories  17,134 – – –

  3,473,919

58,946
– –
– –
– –

154,640 – –
– – 

 30,686,434 – –
– –

175,568 7,456
144,045 6,041

4,776 – –
– –  –

  4,301,336

 

1,044,495 195,708
41,111 – –

– –
7,774

Finance lease liabilities   – – –

  
     

89,585
105,867 – –

11,970,093 – –
Finance lease liabilities   – – –

–

  89,585

  15,035,363

  

3,094,307 3,094,307
Retained earnings  8,073,969 4,387,881
Foreign currency translation reserve  – –
Revaluation reserve    – – –
Hedge reserve  – –
Fair value reserve  44,983 – –
Capital and other reserves  1,005 – –

Shareholder’s funds  
     

1,817,833 – –
– –
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Statement of Changes in Equity – Group 

           

           

 

           

           
Dividend relating 

           
Dividend paid to 

           

           
Capital contribution from 

           
Dilution of interest in 
 subsidiaries to 

           

           

           
Perpetual securities – 

           

 perpetual securities 
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Statement of Changes in Equity – Group 

          
 

          

Other comprehensive loss 

          

          

          
Dividend paid to 

          
Capital contribution from 

          
Acquisition of interests 
 in subsidiaries from 

          
Perpetual securities – 
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Statement of Changes in Equity – Company 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

  
   $’000

   

198,743
– Write-back of doubtful debts    (9)
– Provision for doubtful debts  369

 –
– Amortisation of rent-free incentives  
– Amortisation of intangible assets  1,591

10,116
55

 –
 –

3,113
–
–

– Finance cost  339,969
– Finance income  
– Revaluation gain on investment properties and properties under development – net  

– Dividend income  

Change in operating assets and liabilities   
– Trade and other receivables  
– Inventories   –
– Other assets  
– Trade and other payables  

Cash generated from operations  
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

  
   $’000

   

–
Cash received and to be repaid to an associated company  10,603

–
–

Payments for investment properties  
Payments for properties under development  

Dividend received from third parties  4,198
115,699

Interest received  
Proceeds from divestment of investment properties   14,088

375 –
Repayment of loan from associated companies  –
Payments of transaction costs related to the issue of units in a subsidiary   –

 –

  

   
Repayment of bank loans 
Proceeds from issuance of medium term notes  
Proceeds from bank loans  
Proceeds from loan from non-controlling interests  105,738
Series A redeemable preference shares dividends paid  
Ordinary shares dividend paid  
Perpetual securities distribution paid  

 –

Interest paid on loan from a non-controlling interest   –
Financing fees paid  
Proceeds from dilution of interest in subsidiaries to a non-controlling interests  7,311 –

–
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests  846,388
Cash dividend paid to non-controlling interests  

  1,509,660

  166,780

 9 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

  The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the accounting policies of the Group and the 

  Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the services rendered in the ordinary course of the Group’s 
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  (i) Consolidation

 

 

    Non-controlling interests and perpetual securities holders comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of operations and its net 

  (ii) Acquisitions 

  (iii) Disposals

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  (iii) Disposals (continued)
   

   Changes in the Group’s ownership in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions 

  (i) Acquisitions

  (ii) Equity method of accounting

  (iii) Disposals
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  Leasehold land and building

  Other assets

 
  

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

  (i) Computer software licenses 

  (ii) Trade names

  (iii) Customer-related intangibles
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   Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication that the goodwill 

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

   An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is 

   The Group assesses at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer 

reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 

 

  (ii)  Loans and receivables
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  (i) Loans and receivables 

    The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is calculated as the 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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require the Company to reimburse the banks if the subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms 
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  (i) Interest rate swaps 

  (ii) Currency forwards

  (iii) Cross currency interest rate swaps

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

  Operating leases

  Operating leases
 

 

   Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased assets 
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  (i) Company

  (ii) Subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

 

the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the reporting date are recognised in 



Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd | Annual Report 2016/2017

  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary or redeemable preference shares or perpetual securities are shown in equity 

  Government grants are recognised as receivables at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the 

  Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are 

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

   The key criteria used in the determination is the level of ancillary services provided to tenants or guests and the length of stay at these 
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  $’000  $’000

 – Investment properties 1,785,117 – –
 – Corporate housing operations 55,478 – – –
 Income from hotel operations  – – –
 Service charge – –
 Fees from management services    
 – Subsidiaries – – 119,035
 – Others 78,863 – –
 Car parking fees 49,084 – –
 Dividend income from third parties 4,198 – –
 Dividend income from subsidiaries – – 1,659,190
 Interest income from loan to an unrelated party 3,410 – –
 Other operating income 

  1,778,353

 
  $’000  $’000

– – 3,080
 Reversal of impairment loss in a subsidiary – – –
 Revaluation gain on investment properties and properties under development – net 996,818 – –

153,509 – – –

 – Investment properties – –
– – –
– – –

  – –
5,859 – –

– –

  3,080

  The net revaluation gain on investment properties and properties under development attributable to the equity holder of the Company and to non-

 
  $’000  $’000

 Wages and salaries 140,035

14,014 8,914

   309,801 170,113

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  $’000  $’000

 Financing fees  – –

– –
 – Derivative instruments – hedge accounting – –
 – Derivative instruments – non-hedge accounting – –

– –
 – – –

 – Finance lease liabilities   – – –
  – –
 Interest income
 – Subsidiaries – – 
 – Short-term bank deposits 5,306
 – Others – –
  

  

 
  $’000  $’000

 – Singapore 1,974
 – Foreign 56,769 – –

  1,974

– –

  

30
4,614  –

  198,743
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  $’000  $’000

1,601,074

 –  Revaluation gain on investment properties and properties  
– –

47,891 1,479
4,860 – –

– –
– –
– –

4,613 – –
– –

5,370 – –
 – Others – –

 

  
   $’000  $’000

 Cash at bank and on hand 881,735
 Short-term bank deposits  3,009

  

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

  
   $’000  $’000

  

 – Subsidiaries – – 9,158
 – Associated companies – –
 – Non-related parties – –

  159,567 9,158
– –

 Trade receivables – net 158,507 9,158

 Deposits placed with a subsidiary – – 

147,558 – –

 – Subsidiaries – – 6,881
 – Non-related parties – –

  6,881

 Dividend receivable  – 
– – 600

 Non-trade receivables due from subsidiaries – – 417,003
 Non-trade receivables due from an associated company 18,481 – – –
 Sundry debtors 19,759 – –
 Accrued revenue 131,963

  175,585 705,085

  3,354,933

     
 Non-trade receivables due from an associated company  – – –

48,989 – –
– – 

 Accrued revenue 7,904 – – –

  58,946

  544,938
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   $’000  $’000

 
 Deposits 145,433 106,791
 Prepayments  950

  107,741

 Deposits – –
 Prepayments 1,500 – –

  4,776 – –

  107,741
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   $’000

138,378
 Additions –
 Disposal to an associated company –

161

 Quoted equity securities – Singapore and Hong Kong SAR 73,401
69,564

  

  
   $’000

1,030,130
91,710

 Share of post-acquisition reserves 

  

  
   $’000

103,034

 Total comprehensive income 80,411

 Carrying value 
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   $’000

 Share of post-acquisition reserves 

  154,640

  
   $’000

 Net loss 
931

 Carrying value 154,640

  
   $’000

  
 Financial guarantees  115,946

  

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 



Financial Statements

  

  
   $’000

  

 Additions 

 Disposals 
 –

 De-consolidation of a subsidiary  –
716,869

 Transfer from investment properties under redevelopment 908,861

30,386,799

   
996,477

 Additions 
 Transfer to completed investment properties 

36,037

 Total investment properties 30,686,434
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    $’000

1,785,117

  
   $’000

 Additions 737,647

 Transfer to property held for sale  –
 De-consolidation of a subsidiary  –

7,893

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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 At valuation – – –

   
 At cost 
 At valuation 

  

    

– 31,895 31,895
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16,889 16,889

    
7,456 7,456

 

$’000 $’000

 
 

8,189 7,199
  Additions 317

– – –
  Amortisation 

6,915 6,041

 
– – – –

73,753 – – –
1,438 – – –

75,191 – – –

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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$’000 $’000

     
 

– – – –
18,715 – – –

556 – – –

 – – –

     
 

– –
34,341 – – –

– –

  Total intangible assets 144,045 6,041

  
   $’000  $’000

 – Related parties – –
 – Non-related parties 63

  63

 – Subsidiaries – – 
 – Associated company  54,437 – –
 – Non-related parties – –

  

7,413 7,413
 Financial guarantees – – 4,330

155,396 – –
385,916 136,514

 Accrued retention sum 61,196 – –
 Interest payable 49,619 – –

1,586 – –
77,073 – –

 Tenancy deposits 378,553 – –
10,379 – –

 Other deposits 
 Other payables 8,918 – –
 Deferred revenue – –

  1,177,956 175,306

 Total 1,364,749

 Current portion 1,044,495 195,708
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  Cross currency interest rate swaps are transacted to hedge quarterly and semi-annual foreign currency interest payments on borrowings that 
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   $’000

   
–

1,035,407
89,967 –

  

   
154,000

  11,970,093

  13,095,467

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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   $’000  $’000

50,891
 – Other comprehensive income – –
 – Equity (6,185 – –

 – – –
 – – –

878 – – –
 De-consolidation of a subsidiary  – – –

7,581 – –
360 – –
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1,574
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performance achievement periods and the remaining awards will vest only after a further period of service beyond the performance target 

        
        ’000 ’000

14,001
  Initial award granted    4,174

  Released    

14,973

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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        ’000 ’000

5,555
  Initial award granted    

470 (89)

  Released    

5,071

  

 

        
         ’000

164
  Granted     47

185
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  As the Group has no contractual obligations to repay the principal or to pay any distributions relating to the above perpetual securities under 

  
   $’000  $’000

6,543

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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   $’000

677,715
  Commitment in respect of equity participation in associated companies 689,801

85

 

   The future minimum lease receivable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as 

  
   $’000

  Not later than one year 

  

     
      $’000

  Not later than one year   
70,894
49,599
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  (i) Foreign exchange risk

 Cash and cash

 Trade and other 
  receivables 
  (including 
  intercompany 

 Trade and other 
  payables 
  (including 
  intercompany 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

 

  denominated in 
  the respective 
  entities’ functional 

          
 Notional amount 
  of currency 
  forwards and 
  cross currency 
  swaps not 
  designated as 
  net investment 

          

  for net 
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  (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

   

 
          

 Cash and cash 

 Trade and other 
  receivables (including 
  intercompany 

          

 Trade and other 
  payables (including 
  intercompany 

  
         

  denominated in the 
  respective entities’ 

         
 Notional amount of 
  currency forwards and 
  cross currency swaps 
  not designated as net 

         

 
  

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

  

   

 – strengthened  
 – weakened 

  (ii) Price risk

    No sensitivity analysis was disclosed as the Group had assessed that a reasonable change in the market value of these investments 
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         $’000

  Corporate guarantees provided to banks on subsidiaries’ loans    

  (i) Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

  (ii) Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired

        
         $’000

44,358

        96,340

    The carrying amount of trade receivables individually determined to be impaired and the movement in the related allowance for impairment 

        
         $’000

   Gross amount    1,780

        

   Acquisition     710
   Allowance made    369
   Allowance utilised    
   Allowance reversed      (9)
   Translation    

1,060

    The Group and the Company believes that no additional allowance is necessary in respect of the remaining trade and other receivables 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  Trade and other payables   

 
   

  Net-settled interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps   

    
  Gross-settled currency forwards and cross currency swaps   
   – Receipts   
   – Payments   

    
      

    
  Gross-settled currency forwards and cross currency swaps   
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       $’000  $’000

       
110,559 – –

  Available-for-sale  – –
1,873,470

       
146,978 – –

  At amortised cost  14,380,643

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  (i)  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value

  (iii)  Financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair values

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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   Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate The higher the

    Terminal Yield The higher the terminal

  

   Residual value Gross development valuation The higher the gross

    Development cost The higher the
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   Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate The higher the

    Terminal Yield The higher the terminal

   Residual value Gross development valuation The higher the gross

    Development cost The higher the

 

   Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate The higher the

    Terminal Yield The higher the terminal



Financial Statements

      
       $’000  $’000

39,587 – –
  Fees from provision of management services to subsidiaries  – – 119,035

– –
  Fees from provision of fund management services to associated companies 40,536 – –
  Dividend income from an associated company  15,308
  Acquisition of properties from associated company  – – –
  Dividend income received from subsidiaries  – – 1,659,190
  Interest income received from subsidiaries  – – 

55,499 – –
1,918 – –

        
         $’000

11,513

        33,834
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         $’000

15,700

148,900

        164,600

 

 

        
         $’000

1,349,590

        1,413,689

  
   

 Net gain on revaluation of investment properties and properties under development   
3,050

        
    

8,095

   1,376,515
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 Revaluation gain on investment properties 

  
         

         

         

         

 Depreciation and amortisation (
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 Revaluation gain on investment properties 
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100
     

100
     

100
 

100
     

100

  activities for the holding and related 
  companies within the Group    
  

100

100
     

100
     

100

100
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100 
    

100
    

100
    

100
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100

  operations activities for the holding
  company and related companies 
  within the Group  

    
    

100
    

100
    

100
    

100

    
100

    
100

    
    

100

    
100

 
100

 
100

    
100

    
100

    
100

    
100
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100

     
100

  estate management  
     

100

 
100

 
100

     
100

     
100

     

 
    

     
100

     

 

    
     

100

     

 
    

     
100

  of properties for investment    
  

 
    

     
100

  of properties for investment
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100

    
100

    

 
    

    
100

    
    
 Godo Kaisha Odawara I  –
    
 Godo Kaisha Odawara II –
    

91
    

100
    

100

 
100

    
100 –

    
100

    
100
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100

   of America   
   

100
   of America

 Oakwood Global Housing Solutions Canada Inc 100 –
   of America  
 

100
    of America

100 –
    of America

100 –

 
    

     
100

     
 Grafton ROA Trust Property owner Australia 100
     

100
     

100
     

100
     

100
     

100
     

100
     

100 –
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Property owner Singapore 39
 – Real Estate Investment Trust 
     

 

    
     

  Property owner Singapore 34
 – Real Estate Investment Trust 
     

 

    
     

Property owner Singapore 35
 – Real Estate Investment Trust
     

    
     

  Property owner Singapore 34
 – Real Estate Investment Trust
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36

     

     
38

     
36

     

 
    

     
43

     

 
     

 
    

     
33
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1,665,195
1,567,675

 Others      

        

    

 
   

     
     

     

 
    

     

     
 

 



Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd | Annual Report 2016/2017

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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  Purchase consideration

  Acquisition-related costs
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  Cash and cash equivalents     
  Trade and other receivables     
  Other assets     1,064

1,031

137,455
  Inventory      

  Total assets     478,301

  Trade and other payables     
131,687

  Total liabilities     156,347

  Total consideration      
  Cash of subsidiary acquired     

  

  

  Purchase consideration

  Acquisition-related costs



Financial Statements

  Goodwill arising from acquisition

         
         

  Cash and cash equivalents     
  Trade and other receivables     48,969
  Other assets     18,877

14,834
73,753
18,715

  Inventory     15,589

  Total assets     

  Trade and other payables     33,766
1,909

  Finance lease liabilities     5,191

  Total liabilities     40,866

34,341

  Total consideration     171,987
  
  Cash of subsidiaries acquired     

       159,031
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         $’000

  Cash and cash equivalents    
  Trade and other receivables    81,410
  Other assets    –

–
  Trade and other payables    

  Cash of subsidiaries acquired    
  Deposit paid     –

      

 



Financial Statements

         

         
         

  Cash and cash equivalents     
  Trade and other receivables     40,713
  Other assets     

66
  Trade and other payables     

157,447
  Corporate restructuring surplus      153,509

5,018

         309,015
  Cash of subsidiaries disposed     
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